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About Us
Our History

Our Values

The Northern Ireland Council for the
Curriculum, Examinations and Assessment
(CCEA) was established on 1 April 1994 under
the Educational and Libraries (Northern
Ireland) Order 1993. It replaced the Northern
Ireland Curriculum Council (NICC) and the
Northern Ireland Schools Examinations and
Assessment Council (NISEAC).

Integrity – we ensure staff are open and
honest, tell the truth, play by the rules,
not knowingly do anything wrong and do not allow
themselves to be influenced to do otherwise.

CCEA is a non-departmental public body (NDPB)
that reports to the Department of Education (DE).

Our Mission
We place learners and those who have a
concern for their educational and personal
development at the forefront of our thinking.
Our mission is, “To enable the full potential of all
learners to be achieved and recognised.”

Our Role
Advising Government – on what should be
taught in Northern Ireland’s nurseries, schools
and colleges.
Monitoring Standards – to ensure that the
qualifications and examinations offered by
awarding bodies in Northern Ireland are of an
appropriate quality and standard.
Awarding Qualifications – as Northern Ireland’s
leading awarding body. We offer a diverse range
of qualifications, such as GCSEs, GCE A and
AS levels, Entry Level qualifications, Online
Language Assessment (OLA) and a range of
vocational qualifications including Key Skills,
Essential Skills, and Occupational Studies.
Supporting Schools – by informing them about
curriculum, examination and assessment
issues, providing them with teaching and
learning materials, and developing educational
technology and producing multimedia resources
for classroom use.

Quality and Excellence – we work to deliver
the very best products and services to
customers, partners and stakeholders and
seek ways to continually improve.
Social Responsibility – we will go beyond our
statutory remit in respect of investment in staff and
the contribution we make to the community.
Leadership – we seek to demonstrate exemplary
leadership that includes leading the community
debate on educational policy and promoting,
through example, the seven principles of public
life as set out by the Nolan Committee.
People – we treat all of our people with
respect. We recruit, reward and promote staff
on the basis of merit, provide good working
conditions and help our staff to achieve a
work/life balance.
Customers, Partners and Stakeholders – we
meet our customers’ needs and expectations,
keep our promises, secure full customer trust
and put things right when they go wrong.

We work to deliver the
very best products and
services
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Our Council
Membership as at 31 March 2014

Our Council consists of a Chairperson and
13 other members who are appointed by the
Department of Education (DE). The Council
includes representatives from education,
industry and commerce. It is responsible for
the governance of CCEA.

Mr Trevor Carson
(Chairperson)
Associate Director of
BBA Training

Mrs Christine Harpur
Business Consultant

Ms Clare Gibson
Business Consultant

Dr Ana Kerr
Education Consultant

Mr John Wilkinson
Principal of Dromore High
School

Mr Enda Cullen
Principal of St Joseph’s
Grammar School

Mr Neill Morton
Principal of Portora Royal
School, Enniskillen

Mr Kevin Scally
Former Principal of St Joseph’s
High School, Crossmaglen

Mrs Jennifer Mussen
Former Principal of 11-18
Co-ed High School

Mr Martin Donnelly
Former Senior Education
Adviser with the CCMS

Ms Michele Crilly
Programme Director at Queen’s
University Belfast

Mr Robert Thompson
Former Head Teacher in
Doagh Primary School

A special thanks to
Mr David Thompson, Mrs
Dorothy Black, Mrs Helen
McClenaghan OBE and Mr Jim
Clarke who all served on our
Council for almost 10 years
from 1st April 2003 until 30th
September 2013.
Dr Peter Cunningham MBE
Principal of Ceara Special
School, Lurgan

Mrs Rosemary Cowan
Lecturer Business and
Management at Queen’s
University Belfast
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Chairperson’s Reflection
Welcome to CCEA’s Annual Report for the 2013/14 business year.
It has been a year of significant progress for the organisation as
we continue to cement our central position in the educational
landscape of Northern Ireland. The detail of this work is
contained in the subsequent pages of this publication, but as I
reflect on the last 12 months, there are some particular areas to
which I would like to draw your attention.
For the first time in many years we have a full complement
of members on CCEA’s Council. This is positive, not just because of the additional
knowledge and experience on which I can now draw, but because we have been able to
refresh and reinforce our key subcommittees, bringing even greater governance and
accountability to every aspect of the organisation’s work.
The past year also saw some big decisions made in the field of qualifications. At the
beginning of March I was delighted when the Minister for Education, John O’Dowd, MLA
announced that he had accepted the raft of recommendations arising from CCEA’s review
of GCSEs and A levels.
The challenge now is to carry out a comprehensive revision of our specifications while
maintaining confidence in the portability and currency of Northern Ireland GCSEs and
A levels. Achieving this will require careful management of standards across three
jurisdictions, where policy has diverged significantly in recent years. Key to this success
will be the growing role of regulation within CCEA.
I am confident we will meet this challenge, but to do so will require an intensive period
of engagement with our stakeholders. We must listen to what our colleagues in the
classroom are telling us and ensure the voices of higher education, business and parents
are heard during the discussion.
Indeed, engagement with our partners and customers must be an enduring theme in the
months and years ahead. Like many organisations impacted by the delays that have beset
the Education and Skills Authority (ESA), CCEA has had to maintain a narrow focus on
ensuring service levels are maintained through difficult times. In some cases the price of
that has been a less outward looking organisation.
As we move away from vacancy control and the years of uncertainty, it is timely to remind
ourselves that CCEA exists to serve education in Northern Ireland, with the learner central
to all that we do. With that in mind I want to ensure that in 2014/15 we focus all of our
energies on our core roles − as an awarding organisation and regulator, providing advice
on curriculum and assessment, and providing professional development across the sector.
Trevor Carson
Chairperson
CCEA
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Chief Executive’s Foreword
This has been a very important year for CCEA and as always, learners are at the centre of
all that we do in support of our mission ‘to enable the full potential of all learners to be
achieved and recognised’.
We continue to use technology to improve the efficiency of our business at the same time
seeking to realise benefits for learners. The use of onscreen marking enables us to provide
valuable feedback to schools and increasing use of electronic methods of capturing marks
improves efficiency and accuracy.
In June 2013, we introduced our first App ‘Celebrating the Life and Legacy of Colmcille’.
We have embraced the use social media to share information and I am very pleased how
this has developed into a very effective two-way communication with schools and learners in this digital age. We now
have more than 3000 followers on Twitter. However, this is not the only way we engage with our stakeholders. Face-toface meetings and events remain a critical aspect of our work across all areas of responsibility.
CCEA continues to be the qualifications provider of choice in Northern Ireland and I am encouraged by continuing growth
in our market share in the reporting period. This year we marked ten years of GCE Moving Image Arts, the first fully
online GCE, and when it came to issue of results in Summer 2013 almost 24,000 students accessed their CCEA GCE
results online from 56 countries worldwide.
We continue to develop qualifications that meet the needs of learners and the economy. I am very encouraged by reaction
to our new GCE in Software Systems Design and the role played by the industry and Higher Education in its development.
The launch of GCSE Space Science Technology was an important development for us this year.
Divergence in policy thinking between England and Northern Ireland means that we must work hard to ensure
comparability of standards of qualifications here with similar qualifications taken elsewhere. It is critical that CCEA
qualifications are portable and provide currency for those seeking to use them outside Northern Ireland.
In June we submitted our final report on the fundamental review of GCSE and A Level qualifications. The Minister
subsequently accepted all of the recommendations following a consultation period. We are now working with the
Department of Education on the outworking of the review. This year we developed a range of materials to support
learners with special educational needs and our work supporting Irish medium education continues. Throughout the first
year of implementing revised end of Key Stage assessment arrangements we engaged with principals and teachers and
detailed evaluations have helped inform policy decisions.
The Minister’s decision to commission OECD to carry out a study on the assessment and evaluation system was
welcomed and the positive outcomes in respect of policy here were very encouraging. Benchmarking is a very important
aspect of improvement and the learning from this and other internal comparison studies help inform our work. It is clear
that confidence in the process and outcomes of statutory assessment needs to be developed and CCEA has an important
role to play in that process.
Celebrating the success of learners is very important for us. We held events to recognise excellence and achievement
at which learners and their families joined with us to celebrate their success in CCEA qualifications. The True Colours
art exhibition is an important annual show at which we showcase the work of talented young artists and which helps
to inspire others. This year we took the opportunity to celebrate young artists as part of the Derry/Londonderry City of
culture Programme.
I reported last year the significance of the Minister’s determination that CCEA was to remain a separate body. This has
provided the context for my vision of refresh for the organisation. Continuing to do the things that we do well and seeking
opportunities for continuous improvement. All CCEA staff had the opportunity to contribute to our corporate planning
process. This was a very important aspect of our staff engagement strategy. This has been designed to encourage and
develop engagement opportunities in order to improve the quality of service we provide.
Richard Hanna
Interim Chief Executive

Northern Ireland Council for the Curriculum,
Examinations and Assessment
Annual Report and Accounts 2013/14

2013/14 Highlights
Our Business Model

Communications

Enriching lives, rewarding learning.
Financial
Planning

People
• Qualifications
• Examinations
• Curriculum
• Assessment

Funding

• Support

Qualifications generated income
continues to fund almost one third of
CCEA budget:

• Advice
• Resources

Research

Technology
Quality
& Strategic
Planning

Market Share

DE Funding 21.1 million

CCEA continues to consolidate and grow
its position as the qualifications provider
of choice in Northern Ireland.

Earned Income 9.4 million
and other funding

CCEA 2011-12

CCEA 2012-13

CCEA 2013-14

72.8%

74.1%

74.7%

A Level

67.9%

GCSE

A Level

72%

GCSE

70.1%

A Level

GCSE
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Teacher
Training
Examinations
Helpline

Websites
• Teachers
• Learners

Consultations

• Parents

Facebook

• Schools
• Colleges
• Industry
• Community

InCAS
Helpline

Stakeholder Engagement

Twitter
Newsletters

Making connections with customers, partners and stakeholders.

In November 2013 we
celebrated ten years
of the UK’s first and
only fully online GCE
qualification – CCEA
Moving Image Arts.
In 2014 we mark 15 years of
unbroken accreditation to
internationally recognised
quality standard ISO 9001
− the only public sector
organisation of our kind to
achieve this.

CCEA increasingly uses
social media to share and
provide information. We now
have almost 3,500 followers
on Twitter.
Follow CCEA on
Twitter & Facebook

In summer 2013 almost
24,000 students
from more than 50
countries across the
globe logged on to
view their CCEA exam
results.
In June 2013 we
introduced our very
first app celebrating
the life and legacy of
Colmcille.

In summer 2013 we
increased our share of
the Northern Ireland A
level market to 74.7%.
At GCSE our figure
fell slightly from 72%
in 2012 to 70.1% last
summer.

A*
A*
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Key Themes in 2013/14
CCEA places learners and all those who are concerned with their educational and personal
development at the forefront of our thinking. Our mission is to ‘enable the full potential of
all learners to be achieved and recognised.’
The following is a summary of the key achievements and significant pieces of work that
reflect our continued commitment to achieving that goal.

Setting direction and
engaging staff
This year, CCEA agreed and published its first
corporate plan in many years. The plan is aligned
with the Programme for Government targets
and the Department of Education (DE) objectives
for education. It marks a significant stage in our
journey from the uncertainty of recent years to a
period of re-energisation and renewal.
This clearer sense of direction has also informed
increased efforts to re-engage with our most
important asset: our staff. During the year senior
management agreed on proposals to create a
2–3 year employee engagement strategy aimed
at creating a workplace environment in which
our staff can offer more of their capability and
potential. This work is well advanced, and will
make a significant impact on the quality of service
we deliver to our customers in the year ahead.

The report, with recommendations, was submitted
to the Department of Education at the end of
January 2013. In March the Minister for Education
accepted our recommendations in full. Work is now
underway to implement the changes proposed to
GCSE and A Levels.
During the year we carried out Vocational
Qualifications development work, and we provided
advice and guidance in line with our statutory remit
to support the Department of Employment and
Learning (DEL). We have included activities that
fulfil DEL’s commitment to the United Kingdom
(UK) requirements to the European Union. In
February 2014 we led a UK European Qualifications
Framework (EQF) Conference that was held in
Birmingham. The conference was attended by over
150 delegates both from the UK and beyond.

Rewarding learning and
leading innovation

Advising on the future of
qualifications in Northern
Ireland

We have had a successful year, with two errorfree examination series, and we have introduced
several new and exciting ranges of courses to the
schools and colleges here. We have continued to
grow our percentage of the A level qualification
market in Northern Ireland and consolidated our
position at GCSE.

CCEA, as the Qualifications Regulator in Northern
Ireland, undertook a wide-ranging review of GCSE
and A Level qualifications. The review was in
response to a request from the Education Minister.
It reflected the divergence in 14−19 qualifications
policy across England, Wales and Northern Ireland.

During the summer 2013 examination series alone,
CCEA delivered close to 200,000 grades to 66,234
candidates. During that series our staff processed
290,500 examination scripts and handled 64,500
pieces of coursework.
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We have also continued to modernise our services,
developing the electronic delivery of exam data
to schools and colleges (A2C software). We hope
that this will bring about the standardisation of
examination systems and procedures for schools
by 2015. We also increased the number of scripts
marked online this year − 122,100 in total.
CCEA successfully worked with centres across
Northern Ireland to ensure the smooth running
of examinations during the 39th G8 summit, held
in the Lough Erne resort on 17–18 June 2013. Our
efforts ensured that all examinations went ahead
as planned on these days.
We also introduced a number of new and innovative
courses in September 2013. The new qualifications
include Software Systems Development, Space
Science Technology and Agriculture and Land Use.
We developed them in consultation with teachers,
universities, local business and industry.

Supporting teachers to
deliver curriculum and
assessment
CCEA continues to play a key role in developing
materials to support the delivery of the Northern
Ireland Curriculum. This includes materials for
pupils with SEN and for Irish Medium (IM) settings.
We have also been working hard to support
schools in implementing new arrangements for
statutory assessment in primary and post-primary
schools. Following a challenging first year of
implementation, we have continued to keep the
new arrangements under review. We have provided
DE with feedback on the teachers’ and pupils’
experiences through published evaluation and
analysis reports.

Computer-based assessment
Following the Minister’s decision that computerbased assessments would not be compulsory in
2013, we conducted a pilot between September
and December 2013. We worked with schools to
obtain their feedback in order to inform both the
development of computer-based assessments,

and the Department’s policy decisions in moving
forward. A total of 184 schools took part,
completing assessments on both the legacy
non-transformed and the new transformed C2K
networks. By the end of the pilot pupils had taken a
total of 14,868 literacy assessments and completed
14,798 numeracy assessments.

Training and support to deliver
assessment in the classroom
During 2013/14 we delivered a range of face-toface training to prepare primary and post-primary
teachers for assessment. This included:
• At primary, 739 teachers attended 42 support
events for standardisation and external
moderation for Communication and Using
Mathematics from 4 November to 22 January.
We have scheduled 230 teachers to attend
further Using Mathematics agreement trials in
2014.
• Within Using ICT at primary, 395 teachers
attended face-to-face training, 166 went
to 10 task workshops, and 271 attended 16
agreement trials.
• At Key Stage 3, 119 teachers attended
Communication agreement trials and 127 went
to Using Mathematics agreement trials.
• 245 teachers attended KS3 task workshop
sessions and 108 schools registered to receive
Talking and Listening support.
• We continue to offer a Using ICT support
programme. A total of 321 teachers from 145
schools attended the agreement trials, and
around 250 attended STEM taster events which
focused on innovative aspects of ICT.
As well as providing revised moderation
arrangements we have made a range of support
available online which includes 104 primary
assessment tasks, Communication Assessment in
Practice case studies, and an online Talking and
Listening agreement trial.
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Supporting pupils with Special
Educational Needs (SEN)
We have also provided a range of new materials
and training to support pupils with SEN. 240
teachers attended training for the Thinking Skills
and Personal Capabilities guidance, 122 attended
training associated with the launch of guidance
on supporting pupils with Social, Emotional and
Behavioural Difficulties (SEBD), and 95 attended Q
Skills assessment training.

Irish Medium education
The IM support programme continues to provide
a wide range of support for the IM sector across
various aspects of the primary and post-primary
curriculum including textbooks, online interactive
resources and tailored training. We have developed
most of these resources by harnessing the
expertise of teachers within the sector and/or in
collaboration with other IM providers.
We have collaborated with an tÁisaonad at St.
Mary’s UC to produce additional resources to
support its Early Reading Programme, including
training for all IM primary schools. We have
produced a major resource to support phonics
teaching in the IM in collaboration with an IM
phonics expert. This resource is supported by
interactive games for children and training for
teachers.
This is the only bespoke phonics programme of
its kind. Our collaboration with our colleagues in
COGG (Dublin) continues to be a success, with a
new major interactive reading resource planned for
development on an all-island basis.

Optimising technology
to support teaching and
learning
CCEA is unique within the education service
in Northern Ireland because we have a team
dedicated to harnessing the latest technologies to

enhance teaching and learning in the classroom.
In June 2013, during the Derry/Londonderry City
of Culture celebrations, we launched our first
App along with a series of eBooks and iBooks to
celebrate the life and legacy of a key historical
figure associated with the city − Colmcille.
Another key project was SEN - ‘A Window on
Special’, a collection of short videos giving a
snapshot of the educational experiences of
children and young people within the SEN sector.
The videos ‘Paralympic Success’, ‘Emotional
Intelligence’ and ‘Mainstream & SEN’ were
complete this year.
CCEA’s presence on the web continues to grow and
develop. During this year we have seen a 15% rise
in visits to our site, with approximately 3.8 million
visits in 2013/14.

Celebrating success
We are committed to providing opportunities to
shine a light on the excellent work that takes place
in our schools and colleges year after year.
Awards ceremonies such as Celebrating
Achievement and Celebrating Excellence bring
learners, teachers and families together to mark
outstanding progress and performance in CCEA’s
full portfolio of qualifications.
The ‘True Colours’ art show, which displays the
best and most interesting artwork produced by
students for CCEA Art and Design examinations,
is now a fixture in the educational calendar. Once
again in January and February teachers and pupils
thronged to the exhibition in their thousands to
be educated and inspired by the work on show.
We would like to extend our thanks to the Ulster
Museum, which continues to generously provide
the location for ‘True Colours’. Approximately
50,000 members of the public also had the
opportunity to view it.
We also took the opportunity this year to showcase
student achievement by creating events in the
Derry/Londonderry City of Culture programme.
During our ‘Celebrating Young Artists’ series of
events, we put on a show reel of some of the most
impressive short films developed by students for
our Moving Image Arts examinations. These events
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also featured key figures in the local industry
such as Danny Boyle and Paul Greengrass, who
contributed their expertise and insight to a captive
audience, followed by an in-depth question and
answer session.
And, to coincide with the prestigious Turner
Prize coming to the Maiden City, we created an
exhibition of GCE work by students who had been
commended for taking a particularly innovative
and contemporary approach in the concepts they
choose to explore.

Our commitment to
excellence
We are committed to achieving and maintaining a
range of internationally recognised and externally
assessed quality standards in our work for the
education service in Northern Ireland.
We use the Customer Service Excellence standard
to monitor and improve our level of customer
service. CCEA has been accredited to this standard
since it was introduced in 2009. We have achieved
full compliance with 56 of the 57 elements of the
standards, with a compliance plus rating in eight of
the 57 elements.
In 2013/14 we introduced a new mechanism to
manage complaints more effectively. We continue
to look for improved ways of communicating
effectively with our customers through social
media and website improvements.
CCEA’s assurance and governance framework
has also been improved over the 2013/14 financial
year with a robust structure in place for reviewing
projects and value for money through post-project
evaluations.
We gained our first ISO quality accreditation in
1999. We have now been successfully reaccredited
to ISO 9001 for 15 years. The risk management
and quality systems we have developed have been
lauded by internal audit and the external quality
management assessors as best practice.
CCEA also uses the environmental standard ISO
14001 to drive improvements in environmentally
friendly behaviour within the organisation. This
includes introducing paper reduction targets,

providing additional resources on the CCEA
website, online marking, and developing and
delivering online training for teachers.
We use OHSAS 18001 to identify and either
eliminate or minimise risk to employees and
visitors. It has provided a framework through
which we can make sure that we have identified all
relevant legislation, and assured all compliance.
The standard focuses on health and wellbeing
as well as safety and therefore ensures that we
provide an environment and conditions which
facilitate staff wellbeing and health.
Some of the improvements we have implemented
under the Health and Safety improvement plan
include new security evacuation procedures,
enhanced risk assessments and a mental
wellbeing programme for staff.

Maintaining the ICT
infrastructure
We continue to develop the corporate ICT
infrastructure in line with business needs and
the capital plan. We have also replaced a range
of desktop and laptops, following the three year
replacement policy to keep the technology portfolio
modern, effective and efficient.
CCEA also completed enabling work for the JCQ
sponsored A2C project and the Qualification
Technology Roadmap. We also prioritised and
completed business-led software developments,
which were deployed in each of the three software
releases.
The ICT business unit also completed the following
quality accreditations: ISO 9000 TickIT (Software
Development), ISO27001 (Information Security
Management System), and FAST (Federation
Against Software Theft).
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Sustainability and Corporate
Social Responsibility Report
Sustainability
CCEA is committed to addressing sustainability
issues. We have demonstrated this by our
application of the ISO 14001 environmental
management standard, to which we have remained
accredited since 2006.
Two of our key responsibilities − supporting schools
in implementing the NI Curriculum and developing
relevant and accessible qualifications − encompass
the fundamental principles of Corporate Social
Responsibility (CSR). The areas of work which
reflect these principles include sustainability,
inclusion, learning for life and work, the
entitlement framework qualifications, and personal
development and mutual understanding.
We aim to reflect these principles by managing
our business in an environmentally responsible
manner, ensuring compliance with all applicable
legislation, promoting the health and wellbeing of
staff, and contributing to the wider community and
society beyond our core business.

Environmental impact
We regularly assess the environmental impact of
our activities under the ISO 14001 framework. This
assessment helps us to apply the environmental
management framework through appropriate
target setting. We regularly review this target
setting so that we can continue to improve.
We have identified the significant aspects of how
our business impacts on the environment. Our
environmental improvement programme focuses
on these key aspects while maintaining the
priorities of legislative requirements such as how
we manage hazardous waste.
Whilst we have defined our significant negative
environmental impacts as paper and energy
usage, the work we carry out to support schools’

promotion of sustainability in the NI Curriculum
and 14−19 qualifications has a significant positive
impact on our environmental footprint.
Our approach uses the European Directive on
the Waste Hierarchy as the priority in managing
our environmental impact. We have designed
our environmental improvement programme to
influence changes in behaviours and attitudes of
stakeholders. We hope that this will impact beyond
us and schools, to support real sustainability.

Sustainability in CCEA’s
operations
CCEA operates from three sites, all of which are
part of the ISO 14001 environmental management
system and subject to external assessment as
part of accreditation. However, only our Clarendon
building is eligible for assessment under the Display
Energy Certificates legislation. Our most recent
assessment under this legislation was carried out
in May 2013. We were graded at ‘B’ level of energy
efficiency, which is the second highest grade
achievable. As we have been awarded this grading
at each assessment since the legislation was
introduced we have every confidence that we are
sustaining an effective level of energy efficiency.
We have an established environmental policy and
supporting policies and procedures to inform our
environmental practices. These include:
•
•
•
•

an energy and waste management policy;
travel policies;
an environmental improvement programme; and
established management information systems
which collect and monitor environmental data
which is used to set targets and links to the
improvement programme.

Senior management reviews this information at
twice-yearly meetings to identify and manage
further improvement actions.
You can find our environmental policy on our

11

12

Northern Ireland Council for the Curriculum,
Examinations and Assessment
Annual Report and Accounts 2013/14

website: http://www.rewardinglearning.org.uk/
about/policies/environment.asp
To ensure our compliance with the European Waste
Hierarchy Directive our initial focus for improvement
has been in reducing the amount of paper we use.
We have adopted a number of strategies to deal with
this; however, we have been limited in this by our
increased volume of work. Due to the fact that many
of the related outputs for this work are paper-based,
and schools expect us to provide these resources in
hard copy, our reduction of paper strategies focus on
online developments and internal paper use.
CCEA has a specific aim, documented in the
Corporate Plan, to provide as much of our services
and catalogue of products online as possible. This
aim is implemented in a number of programmes of
work including CCEA’s Modernisation programme,
and programmes for development of learning
resources.

have indicated that our performance in this area is
improving: staff have an increased awareness about
our impact on the environment.

Carbon Reduction Commitment
Scheme (CRC)
CCEA does not meet the criteria to participate in the
scheme.
The following table provides details of our
environmental impact in the significant aspects and
impacts of its business for 2013/14.
Area of focus

Online Marking

Our paper recycling practices have led to a saving of
over 12,637 trees in the last 10 years.
To reduce energy use and natural resources, and
to improve efficiency, we undertake regular energy
audits which identify improvement actions, which
are then followed through by managers. Our audits

2013=36%
reduction

Target Achieved

2014=51%
reduction

On target

2016=100%
reduction

On target

2013=25%

Target Achieved

2014=33%

On target

2016=100%

On target

WASTE REDUCTION
General Landfill
Waste

2013/14 Target:
1% reduction
from previous
year=1,148,895
litres of waste

Recycling

2013/14:
66980 kg
recycled

Over the last four years we have facilitated a
Christmas card recycling scheme in support of the
Woodland Trust. We also offer a postage stamp
recycling scheme for Marie Curie Cancer.
We carry out environmental awareness campaigns
through the intranet, highlighting how staff can
make a difference to the environment through their
behaviour at CCEA and at home. In 2014/15 our
improvement plan includes a stronger link between
environmental impact and health and wellbeing,
with joint programmes for OHSAS 18001 wellbeing
and ISO 14001 environmental consciousness
planned for staff.

Status

PAPER REDUCTION
E-Moderation
paper reduction

Following the Waste Hierarchy, other strategies to
improve our environmental impact include:
• using paper from sustainable forests and
recycled paper;
• using photocopying equipment which allows
monitoring and measurement and reduces waste
through a release mechanism; and
• our recycling programmes which cover card,
aluminium cans, paper, plastics, toner and
printer cartridges and mobile phones.

Target

Target exceeded:
1,037,300 litres
of waste

RECYCLE
n/a

ENERGY/NATURAL RESOURCES USAGE
Electricity

2013 Target:
1,021,689 kWh

Target exceeded:
989,852 kWh

Gas Usage

2013/14 Target:
19,838 m3

Target not met:
24,185 m3

Oil Usage

2013 Target:
49,494 litres

Target exceeded:
48,503 litres

Water

2013 Target:
2,987 m3

Target exceeded:
2,395 m3
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POSITIVE IMPACT
Ecoworld
website
promoting
environmental
awareness
(aimed at
schools but
accessible to all)

2013/14
additional work
on Ecoworld
in conjunction
with Consumer
Council to
enhance the ecotopics covered
in the resource:
energy, water,
waste, food,
our planet and
transport. The
update included
revised data
and statistics. It
also enhances
the experience
to provide more
opportunities
for connected
learning and
critical thinking
within the STEM
subjects and
Learning for Life
and Work

Work complete:

Global
Dimensions
online resources
for Key Stage 3
pupils to support
NI Curriculum

Global
Dimension
incorporates the
key concepts
of global
citizenship,
conflict
resolution,
diversity,
human rights,
interdependence,
social justice,
sustainable
development,
and values and
perceptions.

The activities
support the
statutory
requirements at
Key Stage 3, and
can contribute to
the development
of Thinking Skills
and Personal
Capabilities.

The learning
and teaching
activities in
the resources
give pupils the
opportunity to
examine a range
of issues that
face individuals
and society on a
local and global
level.

Ecoworld
microsite visits in
2013/14: 6,199

Development of
Environmental
Technology GCE
qualification

Environmental
technology
addresses the
challenge of
developing
and adapting
our scientific
knowledge to
support a more
sustainable
world. It
investigates
the potential
of renewable
energy sources
to meet our
global energy
needs. It also
considers how
to conserve
our resources
by redesigning
the built
environment.
Environmental
technology is
about solving
problems
while striking a
balance between
environmental
concerns and
technological
progress.

New GCE
developed as
part of the
Entitlement
Framework
qualifications
development.
Support
materials were
also developed
within this.

Overall CCEA has met or exceeded all but one of our
environmental improvements targets.
Through CCEA’s drive to reduce our environmental
footprint, we are also demonstrating a socially
responsible commitment to ensuring accountability
and probity in the use of public funds.

Corporate Social
Responsibility (CSR)
Our engagement with CSR continues to be subject to
review and improvement in a changing environment.
Our primary consideration in implementing CSR is
to make a positive contribution to our society and to
work within our sphere of influence in the business
and education environment to promote social
responsibility.
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Community, societal and
charitable activities
Our CSR activities during the last year have
included:
• ‘The Giving Tree’ (the provision of 65 gifts for a
children’s charity);
• seven CCEA-wide fundraising initiatives which
raised in excess of £8,500;
• voluntary work in schools, for example helping
with mock interviews;
• hosting international best practice and
benchmarking visits;
• facilitation of student work placements;
• staff membership on school boards of governors;
• membership of the Board of Groundwork NI;
• ‘True Colours’ exhibition displaying the work of
our GCSE and GCE students; and
• the hosting of ‘Celebrating Achievement and
Excellence’ events for learners.

Investment in staff
Learning and Development
In addition to providing standard training throughout
the year, we facilitate opportunities for staff to
develop through the Educational Development
Scheme. This scheme has two strands. The first
strand provides access to professional qualifications
which allows staff to enhance the knowledge and
skills relevant to their role, thereby ensuring that
we are providing the best services. The second
strand gives staff the opportunity for training or
qualifications which will develop their potential.
During 2013/14 a total of 40 staff engaged in the
scheme.

Staff wellbeing
CCEA has implemented a programme for health and
wellbeing under its OHSAS 18001 Health and Safety
system. In 2013/14 the programme comprised 17
events with 395 places for staff open across these.
These events included individual sessions and group
workshops, covering a range of relevant issues such
as flu vaccinations, pilates sessions for back health,
cardiac risk factor assessments, body composition,
cancer prevention, nutrition, work-life balance and
stress. We also offer staff access to the Carecall
counselling service. These programmes have proved
beneficial in reducing staff absence.
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Looking Forward The Big Issues for 2014/15
As CCEA moves into its 20th year we look at some of the main challenges facing the
organisation in 2014/15.

Walking further down the
path of renewal

We need to do a considerable amount of work
to ensure that the Northern Ireland GCSE and A
level brand continues to be held in high regard by
employers and higher education, both here and
further afield.

In 2013/14 we began to refresh and renew the
organisation, and in the coming year we will see
considerable progress in that journey.

The review and re-accreditation of A Levels and
GCSE will form a major piece of work for CCEA
over the next two years. These changes must
take into account how important it is that the
general qualifications learners take here are of
equal standard to those taken in England and
Wales. There will be significant changes in the
GCSE qualifications in England, which means that
particular challenges lie ahead for us.

It is hoped that the Department of Education
will begin the process of looking for a full-time
permanent Chief Executive for CCEA. Filling this
post will bring yet more direction and leadership to
the organisation.
The year will also begin with the official launch
of our Employee Engagement Programme. All
the research evidence shows that a fully engaged
staff brings real improvements to those who use
that organisation’s services. We look forward to
developing this area.

The qualifications
challenge
In March 2014, the Minister for Education, John
O’Dowd MLA announced that he had accepted
CCEA recommendations for the future of GCSEs
and A levels in Northern Ireland. This will mean
considerable progress being made in the following
two main areas.

Currency and portability
The divergence of policy on qualification across the
three jurisdictions of Northern Ireland, Wales and
England means that differences have started to
develop in qualifications that essentially bear the
same brand name.

The revision of specifications
We will start the new business year by consulting
with our schools and colleges on our existing
qualifications before beginning to create revised
qualifications.
We will ensure that all the appropriate stakeholders
are involved in the revision process.

Implementing
assessment policy
In 2014/15 we will focus on taking forward actions
arising from the Minister’s recent statement on the
future of qualifications and assessment in Northern
Ireland. We will focus particularly on working in
collaboration with educational partners and the
teaching profession to resolve outstanding issues
in the successful implementation of assessment
policy.
We will also continue to provide support for schools
and professional development for teachers.
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Maximising the use of
technology
We will continue to develop our capacity to deliver
services in the most modern and efficient manner.
We are updating our processes to carry out more
work online. This means that services will be
smoother and more efficient. It will also reduce the
risk embedded in some manual processes.
We also intend to roll out a much more interactive
and customer-friendly website during the first part
of the business year which we will combine with our
content on social media channels.
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Financial Summary
safety and welfare of all our employees.

Basis of Accounts
CCEA has prepared the accounts in accordance
with the Accounts Direction issued by the
Department of Education (DE), with the approval
of the Department of Finance and Personnel (DFP)
and in accordance with schedule 3 paragraph 13 of
the Education (NI) Order 1998.

Summary Results
CCEA’s financial results for the year ended
31 March 2013 are summarised as follows:
2013/14 2012/13
£(000’s) £(000’s)
Income
Expenditure

9,370

(30,378) (30,594)

Other financial
charge
Net expenditure

9,701

(397)

(138)

(21,405) (21,031)

Capital Expenditure
We’ve prepared the financial statements
in accordance with the historical cost convention
(as modified by the indexation and revaluation of
property, plant, equipment and intangibles in line
with the government’s Financial Reporting Manual
2013/14).
The total capital expenditure for the year
amounted to £382k.

Charitable Donations
CCEA made no charitable donations from its own
funds during 2013/14.

Equal Opportunity Policy
We aim to make the best possible use of
our resources, especially our staff. We recruit and
promote candidates based on merit. We comply
with all relevant legislation and guidance on fair
employment and equal opportunities, and we aim
to meet the legislative and other requirements
in respect of employees with disabilities. In line
with legal requirements, we do everything that is
reasonably within our control to ensure the health,

Auditor
The Principal Auditor is the Northern Ireland Audit
Office (NIAO), 106 University Street, Belfast, BT7
1EU.
The cost of work performed during 2013/14 was as
follows:
£
Audit Services

11,590

Further Assurance Services

-

Tax Services

-

Other Services

-

Total

11,590

The fee for audit services relates to the statutory
audit of the financial statements.

Payment to Creditors
In line with DFP guidance, we aim to pay valid bills
within 10 days of receipt. During the reporting
period, we met the target 86% of the time. 91% of
invoices were verified, approved and paid within
this standard for the month of March 2014. Full
disclosure for 2013/14 of our performance both
in terms of paying invoices within 30 days and 10
days can be found at the following link: www.deni.
gov.uk/index/8-admin-of-education-pg/prompt_
payment_performance.htm

Off-Payroll Payments
CCEA made no ‘off-payroll’ payments during the
2013/14 financial year.

Employee Sickness Absences
Average annual sickness absence for the reporting
period decreased from 9.8 days (as of 31 March
2013) to 9.4 days per employee (as of March 2014),
due to a decrease in long term absence. Short term
absence decreased from 4.1 days to 4.0 days per
employee.

Pension Accounting Policy
Pension liabilities are treated in the accounts in
accordance with Accounting Policies Note 1.11
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in the Notes to the Financial Statements. Details
of the emoluments and pension entitlements of
senior management appear in the Remuneration
Report section of this report.

Going Concern
The Statement of Financial Position at 31 March
2014 shows net liabilities of £4,365k. This includes
liabilities due in future years. All liabilities will be
met by our own earned income or by future grantin-aid from DE, our sponsoring department. As
far as we know, DE’s sponsorship will continue.
Consequently, we feel that it is appropriate to adopt
a going concern basis for the preparation of the
financial statements.

Register of Interests
Council members, members of the key
management staff, or other related parties have not
engaged in any material transactions with us during
the year other than those disclosed in the:
• Emoluments and Pension Entitlements of Senior
Management table in the Remuneration Report
section of this report; and
• Note 20: Related Parties in the Notes to the
Financial Statements section of this report.
A register of members’ interests is available
and can be inspected on application to the Chief
Executive’s office.

Personal Data Related Incidents
During the 2013/14 financial year, there were three
personal data loss incidents. Details of these
incidents can be found on page 34 of the Annual
Governance Statement.

Accounting Officer 2013/14

Richard Hanna, Interim Chief Executive, held
Accounting Officer responsibilities for CCEA during
the 2013/14 financial year.
As Accounting Officer, he took steps to keep
informed of all relevant audit information
and to ensure that our auditors were aware
of that information. As far as he is aware, the
auditors have been informed of all relevant audit
information.

Equality Statement
CCEA in carrying out its function has a statutory
responsibility, to have due regard to the need to
promote equality of opportunity:• Between persons of different religious belief,
political opinion, racial group, age, marital
status or sexual orientation;
• Between men and women generally;
• Between persons with disability and persons
without; and,
• Between persons with dependants and persons
without.
In addition, without prejudice to the above
obligation, CCEA should also in carrying out
its functions, have regard to the desirability of
promoting good relations between persons of
different religious belief, political opinion or racial
group.
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Remuneration Report
CCEA Management Board

CCEA’s Management Board consists of the Chief
Executive and four Directors:

CEO

Director of
Corporate
Services

Director of
Qualifications

Director of
Education
Strategy

Finance
Director

The posts of Director of Corporate Services,
Director of Education Strategy and Finance
Director are currently vacant, so there are a
number of temporary arrangements in place. The
CCEA Management Board (Top Management Team)
currently consists of the Interim Chief Executive
and the Director of Qualifications. They are
supported by five CCEA Business Managers:
• the Curriculum, Assessment and Reporting
Business Manager*;
• the Examinations and Assessment
Administration Business Manager*;
• the Multimedia and Learning Resources
Business Manager*;
• the ICT Business Manager*; and
• the Financial Services Business Manager.
Four of the Business Managers (*) have additional
responsibilities: they lead one or more teams to
cover the Director vacancies. These four Managers
are not acting Directors, as the Interim Chief
Executive has retained overall director level
responsibility for these roles.

CEO and Director Employment Contracts

The Interim Chief Executive was appointed on
a fixed term basis beginning on the 1st October
2012. CCEA employs each of the Directors on a
fixed term contract basis. The CEO and each of the
Directors must serve a notice period of at least
three months.
The contractual remuneration of the CEO and
Directors consists of salary, performance-related
pay (PRP) and pension contributions. The CEO
and Directors do not receive any benefits in kind.
Only termination payments relating to payment in

lieu of notice and redundancy payments are made
where necessary.

CEO and Director Pension Entitlements

The pension entitlements of the CEO and Directors
are disclosed overleaf. Members contribute to
either:
• the Northern Ireland Local Government Officers’
Superannuation Committee’s (the NILGOSC
Scheme); or
• the Teachers’ Superannuation Scheme.
You can find details for both in Note 5: Pension
Commitments in the Notes to the Financial
Statements section.
The increase in real terms of the accrued pensions
and lump sums is calculated by the inflation
adjustment factor of 2.4% for the year to 31 March
2014 and also shows an adjustment for changes in
market investment factors.

CEO and Director Emoluments

Chief Executive and Director salary levels are
subject to scales approved by the Department
of Education (DE). DE also reviews and approves
CCEA’s PRP Policy and PRP Framework each year.
CEO and Directors’ 2013/14 emoluments consisted
of gross salary only. PRP linked to performance in
2008/09 and 2009/10 was approved by DE in April
2014. PRP linked to performance in 2011/12 and
2012/13 remains subject to DE’s approval.

Chairperson and Council Members
Emoluments

The Chairperson’s remuneration is determined
by DE and is currently £13,000 per annum, paid
monthly in arrears. The Chairperson does not
receive PRP, and any future increases to their
rate depend on a fully satisfactory performance,
given only with DE’s approval. During the 2013/14
year, the Chairperson received a remuneration of
£13,000. In addition, £797 was paid in respect of
employers’ National Insurance Contributions. The
post of Chairperson is non-pensionable.
Other Council Members will not receive any
emoluments.
(continued on page 21)
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Emoluments and Pension Entitlements of Senior Management (Audited)
Emoluments
2013-2014

2012-2013

Salary

Performance
related
pay

Pension
benefits **

Total

Salary

Performance
related
pay

Pension
benefits **

Total

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

40

115-120

75-80

5-10

72

150-155

Richard Hanna
Interim Chief
Executive

75-80

Anne-Marie Duffy
Director of
Qualifications

70-75

-

30

100-105

70-75

5-10

15

90-95

35-40

-

7

40-45

70-75

5-10

19

95-100

Martin Quinn
Director of
Corporate Services
(Seconded as of 4th
October 2013)
Full year equivalent

-

70-75

** The value of pension benefits accrued during the year is calculated as (the real increase in pension
multiplied by 20) plus (the real increase in any lump sum) less (the contribution made by the individual). The
real increases exclude increases due to inflation or any increase or decreases due to transfer of pension
rights.

Pension Entitlements

Richard Hanna
Interim Chief
Executive
Anne-Marie Duffy
Director of
Qualifications
Martin Quinn
Director of
Corporate Services
(Seconded as of 4th
October 2013)

Real increase in
pension earned in
the year to 31/03/14

Real increase/
(decrease) in
accrued lump
sum in the year
to 31/03/14

Total
accrued
pension at
31/03/14

Total
accrued
lump sum
at 31/03/14

CETV at
31/03/13

CETV at
31/03/14

Real
increase
in CETV

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

0-2.5

2.5-5

30-35

90-95

574

520

35

0-2.5

2.5-5

30-35

90-95

644

592

32

0-2.5

(0-2.5)

10-15

10-15

133

144

9

Band of Highest Paid Director’s Total
Remuneration
Median Total Remuneration
Ratio

2014

2013

75k–80k

80k–85k

26,539

26,276

2.92

3.1

Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration of the highest-paid
director in their organisation and the median remuneration of the organisation’s workforce.
The banded remuneration of the highest-paid director in CCEA in the financial year 2013/14 was £75-80k
(2012/13, £80-85k). This was 2.92 times (2012/13, 3.1 times) the median remuneration of the workforce,
which was £26,539 (2012/13, £26,276). In 2013/14, 0 (2012/13, 0) employees received remuneration in excess
of the highest-paid director.
Total remuneration includes salary and non-consolidated performance-related pay. It does not include
severance payments, employer pension contributions and the cash equivalent transfer value of pensions.

Northern Ireland Council for the Curriculum,
Examinations and Assessment
Annual Report and Accounts 2013/14

Chairperson Employment Contract

Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV)

The current Chairperson was appointed by the
Minister for Education on 1st February 2013.

CETV is the actuarially assessed, capitalised
value of the pension scheme benefits that an
individual has accrued at a particular point in time.
The benefits valued are the individual’s accrued
benefits plus any contingent spouse’s pension
payable from the scheme.

Remuneration Committee
One of the main roles of the Remuneration
Committee is to support the CCEA Council in its
responsibilities for the remuneration of the CEO,
Directors, Business Managers, and the main CCEA
staff. In relation to the CCEA Management Board,
the Committee is specifically responsible for:
• the ratification of the salary and level of annual
PRP (to a maximum of 15% of basic salary)
for the Chief Executive, as proposed by the
Chairperson of Council in line with the CCEA
PRP Policy; and
• the ratification of the salary level and annual
PRP (up to a maximum of 10% of basic salary)
for the Directors on the CCEA Management
Board, as proposed by the Chief Executive in
line with the CCEA PRP Policy.
The CCEA Chairperson appoints the members
of the Committee. The Committee consists of
a minimum of three members of Council. The
Chairperson of Council may also be a member of
the Committee. Department officials may attend
meetings in an observer capacity.
The Committee meets at least once a year and at
such other times as the Chair of the Committee
requires. The Chair of the Committee provides
a report of each meeting of the Committee to
Council.

A CETV is a payment made by a pension scheme,
an arrangement to secure pension benefits in
another pension scheme, or an arrangement
when the member leaves a scheme and chooses
to transfer the benefits accrued in their former
scheme. The pension figures shown in the
Emoluments and Pension Entitlements of
Senior Management relate to the benefits that
the individual has accrued during their total
membership in the pension scheme, not just
during their service in a senior capacity.
The CETV figures and other pension details include
the value of any pension benefit from another
scheme or arrangement which the individual has
transferred to the disclosed pension arrangement.
They also include any additional pension benefit
accrued as a result of their having purchased
additional years of pension service in the scheme
at their own expense. CETVs are calculated within
the guidelines and framework described by the
Institute and Faculty of Actuaries and according
to guidance used by the Civil Service in Employer
Pension Notice EPN 10/2014.
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Statement of Accounting
Officer’s Responsibilities
Under Schedule 3 of the Education (Northern
Ireland) Order 1998, the Department of Education
(DE), with the approval of the Department of
Finance and Personnel (DFP), has directed CCEA
to prepare for each financial year a statement of
accounts in the form and on the basis set out in
the Accounts Direction. The accounts are prepared
on an accruals basis and must give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of CCEA and of its
Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure,
changes in taxpayers‘ equity, and cash flows for the
financial year.
In preparing the accounts, the Accounting Officer
is required to comply with the requirements of the
government’s Financial Reporting Manual and in
particular to:
• observe the Accounts Direction issued by DE,
including the relevant accounting and disclosure
requirements, and apply suitable accounting
policies on a consistent basis;
• make judgements and estimates on a reasonable
basis;
• state whether applicable accounting standards
as set out in the government’s Financial
Reporting Manual have been followed, and
disclose and explain any material departures in
the financial statements; and
• prepare the financial statements on a going
concern basis.
The Accounting Officer of DE has designated the
Chief Executive of CCEA as Accounting Officer
of CCEA. The responsibilities of an Accounting
Officer, including responsibility for the propriety
and regularity of the public finances for which
the Accounting Officer is answerable, for keeping
proper records, and for safeguarding CCEA’s
assets, are set out in Managing Public Money
Northern Ireland published by the Department of
Finance and Personnel.
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Annual Governance Statement
1 April 2013 to 31 March 2014

Scope of responsibility
As Accounting Officer for CCEA, I have responsibility
for maintaining effective governance and a sound
system of internal control which is integral to the
achievement of the organisation’s policies, aims and
objectives which in turn support the achievement
of relevant strategic aims and objectives of the
Department of Education (DE).
I am responsible for ensuring CCEA’s business is
conducted in accordance with the law and proper
standards, that public money is safeguarded and
properly accounted for, and is used economically,
efficiently and effectively in compliance with the
guidance set out in Managing Public Money NI
(MPMNI).
By applying the Nolan Principles of Standards in
Public Life outlined in the CCEA Code of Ethics
and by acting in accordance with CCEA’s values,
the organisation is committed to developing
and delivering products and services in a way
that demonstrates accountability, transparency,
effectiveness, integrity and inclusivity.

CCEA’s governance and
management framework
The duties and responsibilities of CCEA are set out
in the Education (Northern Ireland) Order 1998.
CCEA’s Council is responsible for:
• establishing CCEA’s overall strategic direction in
consideration of alignment with DE policy ;
• ensuring sound financial management in CCEA
through timely review of financial information
and approval of significant expenditure;

• representing CCEA in the wider field of
education; and
• ensuring that appropriate policies are
established and implemented to comply with
relevant legislation.
The Council operates within an established code
of conduct based on the Nolan Principles with the
Council and all Committees subject to documented
individual Terms of Reference.

CCEA council and committees
The Council is supported by a number of
committees with specific remits. They are:
•
•
•
•

Finance Committee,
Audit and Risk Committee,
Education Committee; and
Remuneration Committee.

The Council receives verbal updates on the
considerations and decisions reached at the
meetings of these committees, along with copies of
the minutes from the meetings.
During the reporting period, the Council, Finance,
Audit and Risk and Remuneration Committees met
five times. The Education Committee met four
times.
Details of Council and Committee attendance are
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provided in the table overleaf.

Council/Committee Members’ Attendance 2013/14
Members

Council
Meetings
(5 in year)

Audit
and Risk
Committee
Meetings
(4 in year)

Finance
Committee
Meetings
(5 in year)

Education
Committee
Meetings
(4 in year)***

Remuneration
Committee
Meetings
(5 in year)

Percentage
Attendance

Trevor Carson
(Chair)

5

n/a

5

n/a

5

100%

Jim Clarke*

1

n/a

2

1

n/a

72%

Helen
2
McClenaghan*

n/a

3

1

2

100%

David
Thompson*

1

n/a

3

n/a

2

84%

Dorothy
Black*

1

n/a

n/a

1

n/a

75%

Enda Cullen

5

n/a

4

3

3

78%

Martin
Donnelly

5

3

n/a

3

n/a

77%

Peter
Cunningham

4

4

n/a

1

n/a

77%

John
Wilkinson

5

4

n/a

3

n/a

100%

Robert
Thompson

5

n/a

4

3

4

89%

Christine
Harpur

4

4

n/a

n/a

n/a

90%

Michele Crilly

4

4

n/a

n/a

n/a

80%

Jennifer
Mussen

4

n/a

n/a

4

n/a

88%

Rosemary
Cowan

5

n/a

4

n/a

2

73%

Clare
Gibson**

1

n/a

0

n/a to date

1

50%

Ana Kerr**

2

n/a

n/a

n/a to date

n/a

100%

Kevin Scally**

1

n/a

1

n/a

1

84%

Neill Morton** 2

n/a

n/a

n/a to date

n/a

100%

Gary
Kennedy#

n/a

n/a

n/a

2

n/a

67%

Tom Skelton#

n/a

n/a

n/a

3

n/a

100%

Imelda
Jordan#

n/a

n/a

n/a

0

n/a

0%

Dr Gordon
Byrne#

n/a

2

n/a

n/a

n/a

100%

•

*The term of office for these four Council members ended on 30 September 2013 therefore their last
meeting was 11 September 2013.
•		**These four Council members were not appointed until November 2013 therefore only two meetings could

Northern Ireland Council for the Curriculum,
Examinations and Assessment
Annual Report and Accounts 2013/14

be attended.
• ***Last Education Committee meeting to take
place before end March so attendance records
not yet available
• #These four members of Committees are
co-opted independent members of specific
Committees and are therefore only in attendance
at those specific meetings. Dr Gordon Byrne was
only appointed in autumn 2013.

Audit and risk committee
CCEA’s Audit and Risk Committee scrutinises
the organisation’s performance on procurement
policy, controls and procedures, risk management,
corporate governance, and regulation of
qualifications.
Representatives from CCEA’s internal auditors, DE,
the NIAO and relevant officers attend meetings of
the Committee.
The Committee also has the opportunity each year
to meet with both the internal and external auditors
without CCEA’s executive officers being present,
consistent with best practice.
The Audit and Risk Committee provides advice
to the Council on matters related to governance,
the management of identified risks, and the
effectiveness of the internal control system.
CCEA’s Audit and Risk Committee has undertaken
self-assessment against the Audit Committee
Handbook on a three year cycle. This time
period allows for improvements identified to
be implemented, embedded and reviewed for
effectiveness. The last self-assessment was
completed in 2011 and the action plan completed
during the 2012/13 financial year. The triennial selfassessment process is being developed for 2014/15
and will be based on the recently issued Audit and
Risk Assurance Committee Handbook (NI).

Management structure
CCEA’s senior executive management has been
subject to a period of change during 2013/14. The
CCEA Management Board currently comprises
the Interim Chief Executive, the Director of
Qualifications and in the absence of Directors in the

areas of Corporate Services, Education Strategy
and Finance, a number of senior managers are
undertaking additional roles and responsibilities
relating to these positions.
CCEA operates a number of supporting
management groups to provide effective governance
over CCEA’s business. These structures include:
• Senior Management Group (SMG) which
consists of the Management Board and business
managers. This board chaired by the CEO meets
monthly to consider strategy, planning, policy,
financial management and reporting against
plans;
• Budget Holders group, chaired by the CEO,
which incorporates other managers and which
also meets monthly with a focus on finance;
• Twice-yearly management review meetings
required by the ISO standards CCEA uses at
which the quality management and internal
control system is reviewed and assessed for
effectiveness. This is chaired by the CEO; and
• A range of programme and project boards
responsible for oversight on key aspects of
CCEA’s core deliverables including operational
delivery of CCEA’s qualifications, implementation
of the qualifications modernisation programme,
business development with a focus on
enhancing the customer experience and the
implementation of statutory assessment
arrangements. All of these boards are chaired
by senior/top management.

Sponsor department
As Accountable Officer, I and/or members of the
Management Board meet regularly with senior
members of DE to provide updates on CCEA’s
progress. These meetings which include regular
Governance and Accountability Review Meetings
between the Chair of Council and DE Executive,
focus on policy development, performance, risks
and finance. A representative of the sponsor
department may attend Council and some
Committee meetings.
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Compliance with the
Corporate Governance
in Central Government
Departments: Code of
Good Practice NI 2013
To ensure CCEA is aligned with best practice in
applying the principles of the Code to its governance
framework, an assessment of CCEA’s compliance
has been undertaken.
The Chairman has undertaken a review of the
effectiveness of Council and its Committees. This
is the first full year of the newly constituted Council
and a number of new members joined during
the year. The Chairman’s review has included
members’ individual and collective contributions to
Council and its committees. He has also reviewed
the scrutiny and challenge functions exercised by
Committees and Council and has advised me that
he is satisfied these responsibilities have been
carried out effectively during the reporting period.
Council was reconstituted in 2013 and the majority
of members were new at that time.
The process of the Chairman’s appraisal of
members is currently underway and expected to be
completed by 31 July 2014.
Appointments to Council are public appointments
and the process is carried out by DE. It is
understood that ensuring a range of appropriate
skills is part of the process. Members are also
provided with training opportunities on a regular
basis.
During the 2013/14 year, an additional independent
member was co-opted onto the Audit and Risk
Committee to provide additional experience in
terms of audit and assurance while three additional
members were invited to join CCEA’s Education
Committee.

2013/14 across all aspects of CCEA’s business
including Council, staff and contracted for services
personnel. The audit identified areas of best
practice as well as opportunities for improvement
which are being implemented for completion by end
May 2014.

Evaluation of the quality
of data provided to
CCEA Council
CCEA’s Council scrutinises papers presented to
them by appropriate senior officers at each meeting
and uses the information to make decisions
pertinent to CCEA’s strategic direction, policies and
finance. These papers are prepared by officers and
are subject to review by the Interim Chief Executive
prior to presentation to Council.
At each Council meeting, reports on corporate
performance are provided. These reports include
data and information on financial management,
business performance, risk management and
human resource management.
Specific items of business include:
• updates on performance against ministerial
targets and objectives in CCEA’s corporate and
operational plans;
• updates on CCEA’s performance in relation to
Governance and Accountability;
• financial planning and performance against
budgets;
• significant business cases;
• capital spend;
• details of significant and new risks and how
these are being managed;
• Internal Audit reports and updates on progress
in implementation of associated improvement
actions;
• External Audit reports;
• reports on engagement with stakeholders; and
• approval of policies and HR management
schemes.

Conflict of interest of members is managed through
annual reporting implemented through a policy with
the register of interests for members and senior
executive managers published on CCEA’s website.

If required, the Council make recommendations for
corrective actions to any issues highlighted in the
reports provided.

Conflict of interest was subject to an audit during

The Council considers the information provided
by the Executive to be of a high quality, accurate
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and relevant to the governance of CCEA. This
assessment is based on the assurance provided by
the CCEA Executive’s openness and transparency;
the implementation of quality standards across
the organisation, all of which require external
assessment and scrutiny; the range and detail of
management information systems and statistical
reports; and professional expertise which informs
reports to Council.
The Council however keeps the quality of
information and evidence provided by the Executive
under review and where additional information
is required, this is provided promptly by CCEA’s
Executive with learning incorporated into future
reports.

by Business Assurance. If required business
and operational risks can be escalated to the
Management Board or Audit and Risk Committee
and a simple escalation mechanism is in place to
facilitate this.
Review of risks includes consideration of risk
appetite thresholds to identify risks where the
rating suggests that the risk would benefit from
escalation for discussion at a higher tier of
management.
The risk management framework comprises
policies, procedures, plans and guidance, aligned to
best practice and communicated and accessible to
staff through CCEA’s intranet.

It has been noted by members of Council,
Committees and representatives from external
bodies, including DE, that the level of detail and
breadth of information being provided by CCEA
officers demonstrates robust management and a
commitment to openness and transparency.

Risk management training for those staff
responsible for managing risks is provided as
required and ongoing support and advice on
managing risks is provided to staff by the Business
Assurance Manager. In 2013/14 more than 20
managers were provided with additional risk
management training.

Ministerial direction

The Audit and Risk Committee meets on at least a
quarterly basis and is responsible for overseeing
CCEA’s risk and governance arrangements on
behalf of the Council. Risk Management is a
standing item on the committee’s agenda and the
corporate risk register is reported after each review.

CCEA has not been subject to any Ministerial
Directions during 2013/14.

Risk assessment

CCEA’s corporate risk register is provided to our
sponsoring department (DE) at each review and
feedback from DE on our risks is incorporated into
the register.

CCEA has a Council and DE approved risk
management strategy and framework which is
subject to regular review by the Council, Audit and
Risk Committee and our internal auditors. The
framework is based on DE’s risk management
framework which is regarded as a best practice
exemplar in the public sector.

CCEA’s assurance
framework

Risks are identified, reported on and monitored
according to this framework. Each quarter, the
Management Board and Audit and Risk Committee
review the Corporate Risk Register which details
key strategic risks and mitigating action.
Within CCEA business units, projects and
programmes there are business and operational
risk registers. These risks are reviewed regularly by
business managers, programme managers, team
leaders and programme boards as appropriate
and are quality assured, evaluated and challenged

In managing risks, CCEA implements a robust and
comprehensive assurance framework comprising
a range of mechanisms by which risk management
can be improved and increased confidence and
assurance obtained.
Key aspects of the assurance framework include:
• Internal Audit: CCEA’s internal audit function
is outsourced with the provider operating to
the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards. A
three-year strategic internal audit plan for 20132016 was approved by CCEA’s Audit and Risk
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Committee. Year one of the plan is complete.
Seven risk based audits were undertaken. Five
of these resulted in satisfactory assurance. Two
reviews received limited assurance. These were
Review of Business Continuity and Review of
Management of FM contractors. The former
had previously been identified by CCEA as an
area requiring improvement and for which
additional mitigation had been initiated. The
internal audit was beneficial in providing
specific recommendations on which to focus
for improvement in 2014/15. In the case of the
latter, the key issues identified confirmed CCEA’s
concerns which were related to issues outside
CCEA’s control due to the procurement of the
contract through DFP. Recommendations made
will be actioned in 2013/14. Internal Audit’s
overall opinion on CCEA’s system of internal
control and risk management for the year
ending 2013/14 is rated as satisfactory;
• External Audit: provides an assessment of and
assurance on CCEA’s financial statements. In
2012/13 CCEA’s external audit resulted in an
unqualified audit opinion without modification
and no report on the account was required.
The Report to those Charged with Governance
2012/13 identified one recommendation (priority
2) which was implemented immediately.
• ISO Accreditation: CCEA uses a range of
national and internationally recognised quality
standards and systems in support of its
business. These help to provide confidence
that CCEA’s internal control arrangements are
robust. During 2013/14, CCEA was reaccredited
to ISO 9001, ISO 14001, OHSAS 18001, ISO 27001
and Tick IT at each assessment. As part of
the implementation of these standards, CCEA
operates a programme of internal management
system audits. During the reporting period 19
of these systems/procedure/process/standards
audits were undertaken across 11 teams/
units and included a review of 48 processes/
procedures. These encompassed auditing
of CCEA’s compliance with the ISO 27001
Information Security standard;
• Customer Service Excellence Standard: CCEA
retained accreditation to the customer focused
standard during 2013/14;
• Regulation: CCEA undertook the annual
self-assessment against the regulatory
General Conditions of Recognition (GCOR) to
demonstrate that CCEA meets the necessary

criteria to operate effectively as an awarding
body of qualifications. This self-assessment
was reviewed by Audit and Risk Committee
before final authorisation on CCEA’s Statement
of Compliance by Council and submission to the
Regulators;
• CCEA’s planning and performance management
framework: Each team/unit in CCEA contributes
to the annual operational plan. The plan details
objectives, costs and performance measures.
Objectives are established with reference to
CCEA’s sponsoring department (DE) and relevant
key objectives outlined in DE’s plans. Progress
against objectives within the Operational Plan is
subject to review by Business Assurance through
the provision of Quarterly Performance Reports
to Management Board and regular reporting to
the Finance Committee. Although final review
of the operational plan (for the last quarter
January-March 2014) is not yet complete, based
on the monitoring of the operational plan as at
January 2014, when 94% of the 669 objectives
were on target or completed, it has been
concluded that the majority of objectives have
been or will be delivered on time and within
budget;
• Financial Management: Budget management
is an integral part of all managers’ roles and
is a key consideration in each budget-holder’s
performance appraisal. Managers are provided
with on-line cost reports within five working
days of each month end and this is supported by
a suite of analytical efficiency and performance
reports. Regular reports on CCEA’s financial
performance are presented to the Management
Board, DE and both the Council and the Finance
Committee for analysis, comment and the
identification of actions. Control accounts and
financial procedures are subject to continual
review. There is a dedicated Finance website
accessible to all staff. In 2013/14 CCEA met the
DE target of being within 1% of net funding; and
• Post Project Evaluation: During the reporting
period, CCEA has developed the PPE process
further to align with DFP guidance in best
practice to include all internally approved
business cases. This has proved to be an
area of higher volume than anticipated and
consequently a review of the necessary
resources is in progress. During the year ending
31 March 2014, CCEA completed 17 PPEs with
lessons learned being disseminated and followup reviews being undertaken on effectiveness of
improvement actions.
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Management of
information risks
CCEA has a range of documented policies,
procedures and guidance in place for management
of information. These are supported by practices
which generally operate effectively. CCEA also has a
dedicated Information Officer.
CCEA monitors the management of information
risks annually on a formal basis through the
provision of a signed stewardship statement
from business managers, functional leads and
team leaders. This stewardship report provides
assurance that managers are satisfied that all
information risks are being handled effectively
within their areas of responsibility. These risks
are also assessed through consultation with the
Management Board on a quarterly basis as part of
the completion of the quarterly assurance reports
for DE.
CCEA is accredited to ISO 27001 which is an
accredited information security management
standard.
During the reporting period an improvement
plan was implemented to enhance CCEA’s level
of assurance around protection of personal data
and information management. Improvements
implemented included training sessions on Data
Protection, increased monitoring and audit of
information by CCEA’s Business Assurance unit,
development of additional guidance for staff and
improved facilities to store and transport personal
data.
During 2013/14, CCEA provided a statement of
assurance to DE on information security which
confirmed compliance with requirements.

Capacity to handle risk
CCEA has identified 16 corporate risks which are
reviewed by Management Board, Audit and Risk
Committee and provided to DE on quarterly basis.
Audit and Risk Committee provide information on
the key risks to each Council meeting.
CCEA’s corporate plan objectives are translated
to our operations through a detailed operational

plan for the year ahead, with clearly defined
accountabilities over the delivery of outputs and
outcomes.
CCEA’s risks are linked to CCEA’s objectives and
management of these risks is embedded into
CCEA’s planning and management approaches.
There are a number of CCEA’s corporate risks
however which contain elements which lie outside
CCEA’s control. In these cases, CCEA management
implements additional mitigation or contingency
as appropriate and ensures the issues presenting
are communicated to Council and our sponsoring
department.

Compliance with
policies, procedures,
laws and regulations
CCEA has developed a number of mechanisms to
provide assurance that it is meeting all required
legislation and codes of practice. In addition to
those previously described, CCEA implements
a process of legislative compliance assessment
which has been recognised by external assessors
and internal audit as best practice. This process is
managed through registers of applicable legislation
and assessment of how CCEA comply with that
legislation with any areas of non-compliance
leading to an improvement plan and re-evaluation
of compliance once completed.
CCEA keeps policies under review. In addition, I
have commissioned an overall review of policies
and procedures in order to provide clarity and
consistency of approach.
CCEA seeks legal advice when appropriate to
support the achievement of its objectives in a
manner compliant with legal requirements and the
effective management of legal risk.
CCEA has a dedicated Procurement Team which
advises managers on procurement arrangements
and provides guidance in terms of compliance
with emerging changes to procurement rules.
Non-compliance with procurement policy and
procedures is a standing agenda item at Audit and
Risk Committee.
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Safeguards against
losses
CCEA has a system of financial controls in place to
promote the effective use of financial resources and
to safeguard against loss. This includes a robust
budgeting and forecasting process which is closely
aligned to the operational planning process, and
which is supported by monthly management review
of actual results. Regular reports on financial outturn are also provided to DE.
Controls are in place to ensure that financial
transactions are authorised in line with delegated
authorities and duties for Finance staff are
segregated, where possible, to ensure effective
financial controls.
CCEA has a counter-fraud policy, fraud response
plan and whistle-blowing policy in place. This
framework ensures that all CCEA employees
understand their responsibilities in this area
and that prompt action is taken in the event that
fraudulent activity is suspected.
Following an incident of fraud in the previous
financial year, an improvement action plan was
instigated to enhance management of the risk
of fraud in CCEA. The action plan is complete.
Significant improvements implemented included
targeted fraud awareness for all managers,
development of supplementary guidance for
managers and dissemination of same to contracted
for services personnel.

Significant internal
control issues
Close-out of previous control
issues
Question paper errors
Errors in question papers identified in the 2011/12
period led to changes in the question paper
production process to ensure adequate control.
Although an improved and revised process was
introduced in a timely manner, as question papers
are developed eighteen months to two years in

advance, embedding of enhanced controls could not
be fully realised until 2014 question papers were
developed. Question papers for summer 2014 will
have been subject to the new process and therefore
it is understood that evaluation of the effectiveness
of the additional controls can be undertaken in
autumn 2014. Assessment and audit of the revised
control system for question paper development and
production has been planned for early autumn to be
actioned by internal audit.
For question papers advanced in development in
the former process which included those for June
2013, November 2013 and January 2014, additional
checks were undertaken to ensure other errors
did not occur. Question papers delivered in each
examination series in 2013/14 were error free

Significant control issues
2013/14
Computer-based assessment (CBA)
Although the CBA pilot in 2013/14 was delivered
reasonably effectively, one issue arose in respect
of assessments not running smoothly on schools’
transformed networks.
In advance of the CBA pilot operating on the
transformed network, CCEA, C2k and Capita
carried out a pre-pilot. Over a period of two days,
the six pre-pilot schools completing CBAs on the
transformed network experienced problems with:
- listening questions malfunctioning in the 		
Literacy Assessment; and
- questions loading very slowly during the
Numeracy assessment.
In response to these issues, the transformed prepilot was paused temporarily to allow investigation
into the source of the difficulties affecting both
assessments in the live transformed environment.
Testing by C2k/Capita identified actions which could
be taken within the transformed network to address
both issues. Following further testing in live school
environments and controlled observations of pupils
taking assessments within two weeks of the issues
being raised, the transformed pre-pilot and main
pilot proceeded as planned.
In late 2013/early 2014, it was identified that the
age-related outcome range and standardised
scores for the NI Literacy Assessment, in respect
to pupils with Special Educational Needs, appeared
to present inflated scores. CCEA has undertaken
liaison with the provider, Tribal, to address the

Northern Ireland Council for the Curriculum,
Examinations and Assessment
Annual Report and Accounts 2013/14

issue and to provide assurances around ongoing
monitoring of outcomes and impact analyses.
At this point, as the issue is subject to ongoing
investigation by Tribal, CCEA continues to seek
formal assurance around the assessment
outcomes.

Assurance Framework, two of the seven internal
audit reviews undertaken in 2013/14 resulted in
limited assurance levels. The significant issues
identified in these reviews were highlighted in
Internal Audit’s Annual Assurance Report. The key
points identified are:

New assessment arrangements to
support the NI Curriculum

• the requirement to further develop CCEA’s
Business Continuity Plan;
• the requirement to develop an overarching
ICT Disaster Recovery Plan (DRP) which
encompasses existing DRP plans for different
systems;
• the requirement to confirm and develop a site for
business continuity;
• the requirement for CCEA to continue to liaise
with DFP and the contractors associated with
the DFP facilities management contract to seek
clarity on the allocation of responsibilities and
management arrangements in relation to said
contract; and
• the requirement to review the allocation of
responsibilities within the Facilities Management
team to ensure appropriate contingency
arrangements are established and training is
provided.

Elements of this high level risk have materialised.
Specifically, schools have failed to engage with
training and implementation of assessment
arrangements and the proposed model for
moderation. This has been due, in the main, to
industrial action.
Although operation of the assessment
arrangements in 2012/13 was significantly affected
by ongoing union action, the moderation process
was effectively delivered by CCEA and associated
moderators with outcomes received for 75−80%
of eligible post-primary pupils and 95% of eligible
primary pupils. In July 2013 as requested, CCEA
provided a comprehensive report to the Minister
for Education on the operation of the first
year of assessment arrangements. Following
further engagement with DE, CCEA provided
recommendations to the Minister, as a consequence
of which a decision was taken to make changes
to the assessment arrangements for the 2013/14
academic year. These amendments were intended
to address workload and timescale issues identified
by schools.
Despite this, assessment operations and training
has continued to be impacted by industrial
action in 2013/14. In terms of training, although
approximately 739 primary and 246 post-primary
teachers attended in excess of 40 support events
for standardisation and external moderation for
Communication and Using Mathematics, this
represents engagement by only approximately
85% of primary and 45% of post-primary schools.
Most significantly however, to date, moderation
school portfolios have been received from only 221
primary schools (around 25%) and 100 post-primary
schools, representing approximately 25% and 40%
of schools respectively. This has significant impact
on the reliability of outcomes and associated data.
DE and CCEA continue to engage with the teaching
unions on an ongoing basis with the aim of resolving
the issues to allow assessment arrangements to
proceed from September 2014.
Significant issues identified by internal audit
As referenced above in the section on CCEA’s

CCEA’s significant risks
Within the corporate risk register a number of risks
are considered significant in terms of their potential
impact on CCEA’s/DE’s objectives and reputation.
Where possible and when it is within CCEA’s control,
additional mitigation has been deployed to manage
the risk more effectively but in some cases where
there are dependencies on third parties outside
CCEA’s influence, further required additional
measures cannot be implemented, for example,
in respect of the dependency on the technology
platform in schools managed by C2K.
Although many of CCEA’s key risks remain, there
have been changes to CCEA’s risk profile in 2013/14
with four additional risks being identified, managed
and monitored and the number of high level and
critical risks increasing. These increases in risk
emanate from a number of sources including
educational policy direction, staff capacity and
stability and impact from external factors and
parties over which CCEA has limited or no control.
CCEA’s new risks are detailed below.
1.

Failure to ensure that the appropriate ICT
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resources are in place and effective to provide
the quality ICT products and services required
by CCEA.
This risk is currently at a high level. ICT has been
under capacity to deliver CCEA’s demand for ICT
services for a number of years particularly within
the context of vacancy control. ICT capacity affects
delivery of development of new systems to deliver
more efficient and responsive systems in CCEA’s
core educational business as well as maintenance
of key existing systems and technical debt.
The failure to deliver these demands significantly
increases business risks and costs, as more
examination and assessment processing will have
to be completed manually. Key examples include
risks to the delivery of the new Joint Council for
Qualifications initiative A2C which would result
in CCEA being unable to continue to operate
as an awarding body; failure to deliver the ICT
components of the modernisation programme,
which would affect CCEA’s ability to compete with
other awarding organisations and to provide critical
support for the Programme for Government and
DE targets for literacy and numeracy and every
school a good school as access to the item level
data provided by modernisation services would be
denied.
Despite DE’s approval of funding, ICT capacity
risks remain high due to the failure to recruit the
necessary staff and the growing risk of losing
existing experienced staff.
Despite a proactive campaign to encourage
applicants and the use of specialist agencies, CCEA
has been unable to recruit the necessary staff
required to address the deficit. Additional avenues
are being explored including an ongoing review
of salary scales and the ICT allowance scheme;
flexible working conditions; consideration of
outsourcing; recruitment through other agencies;
use of DFP digital procurement; and widening
the geographical boundaries of the recruitment
campaign.
In terms of staff retention, there are a number of
key staff, the loss of whom has the potential to lead
to a significant vulnerability for CCEA.
The loss of existing and recruitment of new staff
relates to constraints in terms of public sector
pay policy in the context of market forces for ICT
staff and is exacerbated by the delays in CCEA’s
pay remit including issues associated with the ICT
performance scheme.

2. Failure to ensure CCEA GCSE and A Level
qualifications are comparable in standards with
similar qualifications offered by other Awarding
Organisations
This risk has been identified in the context of
an increasingly divergent landscape in terms
of three jurisdiction regulation and the impact
on comparability of qualifications both real and
perceived. Following a review of qualifications
for age 14-19 by CCEA and wider consultation on
CCEA’s recommendations by DE, recommendations
made have been accepted.
The newly agreed policy has implications for CCEA
regulation requiring increased capacity. This is in
progress.
3. Interim management arrangements for
leadership in directorates of Education
Strategy, Corporate Services and Finance
This risk is currently assessed as critical. CCEA’s
Management Board currently comprises the CEO,
one Director and a number of senior managers
carrying out aspects of the roles of Directors of
Finance, Education Strategy and Corporate Services
as additional responsibilities. Top management
capacity is a significant issue. Resolution of
this risk largely depends on management of
another new risk related to the appointment of a
permanent CEO and outcome of the review of the
Top Management structure commissioned by the
Chairman.
4. Delay in appointing a permanent CEO
This high level risk, which is owned by CCEA’s
Chair, has dependencies on DE. CCEA’s Chair has
presented a business case to DE for approval to run
a recruitment process.
In addition to those new risks identified above
as critical or high level, CCEA has a number of
significant risks. These are outlined below.
1. Failure to deliver on targets (within budget)
as outlined in the Corporate Plan, Operational
Plan, Work programme, Financial Plan and
Savings Delivery Plan
The ongoing issue of CCEA not having an approved
budget and work programme at the beginning of
the financial year impacts on CCEA’s ability to plan
for the delivery of the work programme and other
objectives and ensure budget targets are met.
This has been discussed with DE and agreement
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reached on a revised process for planning, reporting
and baselining CCEA’s activities. CCEA has
complied with these new arrangements for 2014/15
but the anticipated outcomes from DE are not yet
visible thereby continued risk persists.
2. Failure in delivery of products, services or
systems as a result of dependencies on the
managed ICT service in schools
A number of CCEA’s key and high profile objectives
and services depend upon C2k for effective delivery.
As CCEA modernises its services, this dependency
and associated risks will increase. Although the
potential impact on reputational risk for CCEA is
significant, CCEA has no control over this external
dependency.
Specific aspects of CCEA’s services which are
affected by C2K include CBA, A2C and delivery of
many of CCEA’s qualification services. A number of
concerns have been identified in relation to these
services including the ability to performance test
on the C2k network for summer 2014 E-Moderation
delivery and fluctuations in network accessibility to,
for example, web applications for post-exam results
services.
CCEA has put mitigation and contingency in place
for these deliverables.
To address the risk robustly and reduce the
leveI of the risk in totality, CCEA has drafted a
Memorandum of Understanding for consideration
and agreement by C2K.
3. Failure to implement effectively new
assessment arrangements to support the NI
Curriculum.
As described above, this risk has materialised in
the reporting period. CCEA will continue to liaise
with DE and the unions to manage the risk going
forward.
4. Failure to comply with General Conditions of
Recognition
Although management of the risks associated
with delivery of error-free question papers has
significantly improved through additional controls in
the question paper development process, until the
summer 2014 series is complete and a review of the
effectiveness of these actions can be undertaken
through follow-up audits, the risk remains high.
A new area of concern in relation to this risk has
emerged in the loss of experienced educational staff

to other positions which has the potential to impact
on the awarding process in summer 2014. CCEA is
implementing additional mitigation around this and
it is being monitored closely.
5. Failure to secure appropriate resources,
systems and procedures to implement an
effective modernisation programme.
Although CCEA secured permission from DE for
the overall modernisation programme in late
October 2013, risk continues due to compressed
timescales for delivery and the failure to recruit the
additional ICT staff required as noted above. There
are also elements of ongoing risk in terms of the
dependency on C2k as well as issues associated
with continuity of provision of technology within
procurement constraints. CCEA is considering
alternative procurement options going forward
through benchmarking.
A potential risk has emerged in relation to ensuring
that issues experienced by another awarding
organisation using the same online marking
provider as CCEA are not transferred to CCEA.
CCEA is currently liaising with the contractor to gain
assurance.
6. Failure to maintain the business infrastructure
required to support the deliverable outputs of
the organisation.
The continued failure to obtain approval of the CCEA
Pay Remits presents ongoing risk which impacts on
a number of other risks including ICT staff capacity,
stability at Management Board, staff morale and
goodwill and potential legal challenge in respect of
PRP.
The interim management arrangements,
heightened during 2013/14 by the absence of the
Director of Corporate Services, expose CCEA to
risk associated with capacity and dependency. This
aspect of the risk will escalate in proportion to the
period of time the interim arrangements continue.
As noted in relation to the risk around ICT staff
capacity, CCEA faces significant challenges in
providing an effective infrastructure while this
deficit continues.
It has also been identified that CCEA’s
organisational disaster recovery/business
continuity plan requires improvement to provide
an appropriate level of assurance. Initial work
has begun to address this by management while
internal audit recommendations are also being
taken forward.
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During the reporting period, CCEA did not have a
contract awarded for an internal audit function for
the period July-October 2013. This presented a risk
to ensuring an appropriate level of independent
assurance over CCEA’s risk management,
governance and internal control processes. The
risk was related to delays in the procurement
process.
A number of mitigation measures were put in place
to manage the risk. These included:
• In the context of time constraints which had
the potential to impact on the completion of an
overall annual assurance opinion, an outline
internal audit plan for 2013/14 was drafted by
CCEA’s Business Assurance unit. This plan was
based on CCEA’s key risks;
• the tender specification included the
requirement for the successful provider to be
able to deliver the first year of the three year
contract within a constrained timescale in order
to ensure that CCEA’s key risks were reviewed
appropriately. This would enable effective
completion of the Annual Governance Statement
and Annual Assurance report; and
• during the intervening period, CCEA continued
to undertake management system audits across
CCEA’s key risks.
The internal audit contract was awarded in October
with all planned internal audit activities completed
before the end March 2014. Seven reviews were
undertaken across a range of CCEA’s key functions.
Delivery of this plan provided a comprehensive
assessment of CCEA’s risks and controls which
informed the annual assurance opinion.

Personal data related incidents
During the reporting period, there were two minor
incidents involving security of personal data.
The first incident involved information on
examination invoices which had been inadvertently
sent to the wrong school. The invoices contained
candidate names, numbers and subject. The cause
of the incident was accidental inclusion of pages
from one school’s invoices in another’s packing
during the collation of the invoice and backing
material prior to issue by the Distribution section.
It was confirmed that only the examination officer
at the school had sight of the information which
was promptly returned to CCEA by the school.
Review of the incident confirmed that invoices and
backing details are processed in the same manner
as other confidential materials, such as candidates’
results and certificates, as per documented ISO
procedures. The procedures which are followed

have been reviewed with the team leader and no
changes are necessary. It will be ensured however
that during the briefing, before completing the task,
that the procedure to be followed will be clearly
explained and re-emphasised, focusing on the
checks required.
The second incident related to issue of payslips
to the wrong individuals, both of whom were
temporary members of staff. CCEA’s payroll section
issues payslips generated at month end following
a defined and documented process with three
options dependent on the status of the member of
staff ie those still in CCEA’s employ and those who
have recently left CCEA and the number of leavers
in that month. At the time of issue concerned, it
was a busy month and the temporary members
of staff concerned had left CCEA. In addition the
individual normally responsible for managing
the process was on leave at the time. Within this
context, in keeping with procedure, the third option
in which a Cognos report is generated to provide a
mail merge of names and addresses for all leavers
was actioned. This report contains employee’s
initial, surname and address and is in employee
number order. Payslip runs are however produced
in alphabetical order. No manual matching process
between the labels and the payslips would have
been undertaken. In the absence of the usual staff
member, the payslips were given to a temporary
member of staff with instructions on distribution.
For the two payslips which were mixed up, both
payslips showed “Employee No A/Employee No
B” and the person’s name; however the address
labels showed the person’s name and “Address A/
Address B”. It appears that due to the high volume
of transactions, and having to match payslips to
labels in a different order, the two addresses were
mixed up by the temporary staff member, who also
did not have detailed knowledge of the employees
on the payroll.
In identifying the situation, CCEA issued an apology
to the individuals along with the correct payslips.
Provision was also made for the return of the
incorrect payslips. To address the presenting
issues of risk, CCEA undertook a review of the
procedures. A number of possible alternatives have
been proposed as long-term solutions however
these require software development or additional
processing and associated postage costs. Pending
implementation of the longer-term development,
an interim mitigation has been established which
involves production of different reporting format and
additional manual checks.
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Significant outcomes
Within the context of CCEA’s risk profile and the
challenges faced over 2013/14, CCEA has delivered
a wide range of services and products and widely
engaged with customers and stakeholders.
Key achievements during 2013/14 included:
• Leadership training programme for staff;
• Successful implementation of increased volumes
of on-line marking and E-Moderation which
has also resulted in lead-times to customers
being reduced by 50%, reduction in costs and
environmental impact and provision of item level
data to support educational improvement targets
in schools;
• Review of qualifications for 14-19 in NI resulting
in acceptance of CCEA’s recommendations by
the Minister for Education;
• Development of a range of learning resources
and online services for stakeholders including
Irish Medium, Special Educational Needs (SEN),
Health and Safety awareness and NI Assembly;
• Successful implementation of auto-enrolment
and real time information for CCEA staff with
system ready for implementation for contracted
staff for April 2014 with a capacity for 7000
people;
• Development of support and training for the NI
Curriculum including Irish Medium, SEN and
STEM resources;
• Development of 104 Primary Assessment tasks;
• Development of A2C systems within constrained
JCQ timeframes;
• Successful operationalisation of online marking;
• Accurate delivery of examination results across
three series;
• Robust risk and contingency management for G8
summit;
• Error free question papers for all series; and
• Development of new qualifications in response
to changing needs of economy and society
including GCSE systems software and Level 2
space science.

Review of effectiveness
As Accounting Officer, I am responsible for
reviewing the effectiveness of the governance
framework including system of internal control.
This review is informed by:
• senior management who have responsibility
for the development and maintenance of the
internal control framework;
• the work of the internal auditors, who submit

regular reports to CCEA’s Audit and Risk
Committee which include an independent
and objective opinion on the adequacy and
effectiveness of the organisation’s systems of
internal control together with recommendations
for improvement; and
• comments made by the external auditors in their
management letter and other reports.
Assurances are provided by the executive and
independent scrutiny of the organisation and its
processes. The Business Assurance team provides
a key function in monitoring assurance measures
and collating relevant information. This work
includes:
• management system audits;
• consideration of the measures in place to
manage corporate, business and operational
risks and development of the risk management
framework, including assurance/stewardship
statements signed by management;
• business improvement systems and tools
employed by CCEA;
• other sources of assurance (as defined within
the assurance framework); and
• discussions with key staff and observations
during the reporting period.
Regular updates are provided to Audit & Risk
Committee and processes kept under review in the
context of continuous improvement.
Based on consideration of the assurance
mechanisms implemented within CCEA including
Internal Audit’s overall conclusion that CCEA has
demonstrated a satisfactory level of assurance, I am
satisfied that an effective governance structure and
satisfactory system of internal control has operated
effectively throughout 2013/14.
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Certificate of the Comptroller and
Auditor General
NORTHERN IRELAND COUNCIL FOR THE
CURRICULUM, EXAMINATIONS AND ASSESSMENT
THE CERTIFICATE OF THE COMPTROLLER AND
AUDITOR GENERAL TO THE NORTHERN IRELAND
ASSEMBLY
I certify that I have audited the financial statements
of the Northern Ireland Council for the Curriculum,
Examinations and Assessment for the year ended
31 March 2014 under Schedule 3 of the Education
(Northern Ireland) Order 1998. These comprise the
Statements of Comprehensive Net Expenditure,
Financial Position, Cash Flows, Changes in
Taxpayers’ Equity and the related notes. These
financial statements have been prepared under
the accounting policies set out within them. I have
also audited the information in the Remuneration
Report that is described in that report as having
been audited.
Respective responsibilities of the Accounting
Officer and auditor
As explained more fully in the Statement of
Accounting Officer’s Responsibilities, the
Accounting Officer is responsible for the
preparation of the financial statements and
for being satisfied that they give a true and fair
view. My responsibility is to examine and certify
the financial statements in accordance with the
Schedule 3 of the Education (Northern Ireland)
Order 1998. I conducted my audit in accordance
with International Standards on Auditing (UK and
Ireland). Those standards require me and my staff
to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s
Ethical Standards for Auditors.
Scope of the audit of the financial statements
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the
amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance
that the financial statements are free from
material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or
error. This includes an assessment of: whether the
accounting policies are appropriate to the Northern
Ireland Council for the Curriculum, Examinations

and Assessment’s circumstances and have been
consistently applied and adequately disclosed;
the reasonableness of significant accounting
estimates made by the Northern Ireland Council
for the Curriculum, Examinations and Assessment
and the overall presentation of the financial
statements. In addition I read all the financial and
non-financial information in the Annual Report to
identify material inconsistencies with the audited
financial statements and to identify any information
that is apparently materially incorrect based on,
or materially inconsistent with, the knowledge
acquired by me in the course of performing the
audit. If I become aware of any apparent material
misstatements or inconsistencies I consider the
implications for my certificate.
I am required to obtain evidence sufficient to
give reasonable assurance that the expenditure
and income recorded in the financial statements
have been applied to the purposes intended by
the Assembly and the financial transactions
recorded in the financial statements conform to the
authorities which govern them.
Opinion on regularity
In my opinion, in all material respects the
expenditure and income recorded in the financial
statements have been applied to the purposes
intended by the Assembly and the financial
transactions recorded in the financial statements
conform to the authorities which govern them.
Opinion on financial statements
In my opinion:
• the financial statements give a true and
fair view of the state of Northern Ireland
Council for the Curriculum, Examinations and
Assessment’s affairs as at 31 March 2014 and
of the net expenditure, cash flows and changes
in taxpayers’ equity for the year then ended; and
• the financial statements have been properly
prepared in accordance with Schedule 3 of the
Education (Northern Ireland) Order 1998 and
Department of Education directions issued
thereunder.
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Opinion on other matters
In my opinion:
• the part of the Remuneration Report to
be audited has been properly prepared in
accordance with the Department of Education
directions made under Schedule 3 of the
Education (Northern Ireland) Order 1998 and
• the information given in the Financial Summary
for the financial year for which the financial
statements are prepared is consistent with the
financial statements.
Matters on which I report by exception
I have nothing to report in respect of the following
matters which I report to you if, in my opinion:
• adequate accounting records have not been
kept; or
• the financial statements and the part of the
Remuneration Report to be audited are not in
agreement with the accounting records; or
• I have not received all of the information and
explanations I require for my audit; or
• the Governance Statement does not reflect
compliance with Department of Finance and
Personnel’s guidance.

KJ Donnelly
Comptroller and Auditor General
Northern Ireland Audit Office
106 University Street
Belfast
BT7 1EU
25 June 2014
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Statement of Comprehensive
Net Expenditure
Year ended 31 March 2014

2014
Notes

£

2013
£

£

£

Expenditure
Staff costs

4

14,160,366

13,260,659

Other expenditures

6

15,979,192

17,191,681

Depreciation

7

218,341

129,597

Amortisation

8

20,357

12,242

Expenditure for the year

30,378,256

30,594,179

9,369,831

9,701,312

21,008,425

20,892,867

9

397,000

138,000

18

21,405,425

21,030,867

Income
Income from activities

3

Net expenditure
Other finance costs
NET EXPENDITURE AFTER INTEREST
(transferred to general reserve)

Other Comprehensive Expenditure
2014

2013

Notes

£

£

and equipment (in Revaluation reserve)

7 & 17

(42,516)

19,479

Net (loss)/gain on revaluation of intangibles
(in Revaluation reserve)

8 & 17

(3,539)

2,369

3,613,994

(1,345,996)

17,837,486

22,355,015

Net (loss)/gain on revaluation of property, plant

Actuarial gain/(loss) in respect of pension liability

5.1c & 18

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE EXPENDITURE FOR
THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2014
All amounts above relate to continuing activities.
The notes on pages 43 to 62 form part of these
accounts.
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Statement of Financial Position
At 31 March 2014

2014
Notes

£

2013
£

£

£

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment

7

671,579

621,572

Intangible assets

8

60,725

13,515
732,304

Total non-current assets

635,087

Current assets
Inventories

10

5,297

2,648

Trade and other receivables

11

2,596,206

2,863,807

Cash and cash equivalents

12

1,199,423

699,854

Total current assets

3,800,926

3,566,309

Total assets

4,533,230

4,201,396

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables

13

(2,103,777)

Total current liabilities
Non-current assets plus net
current assets

(2,006,018)
(2,103,777)

(2,006,018)

2,429,453

2,195,378

Non-current liabilities
Provisions
Pension liabilities

14
5.1c

(708,000)

(772,000)

(6,086,079)

(9,058,072)

Total non-current liabilities

(6,794,079)

(9,830,072)

Total assets less liabilities

(4,364,626)

(7,634,694)

Taxpayers’ equity
Revaluation reserve

17

(87,994)

(41,939)

General reserve

18

(4,276,632)

(7,592,755)
(4,364,626)

(7,634,694)

The financial statements on pages 39 to 42 were approved by the Council on 18th June 2014 
and were signed on its behalf by:
Trevor Carson.................................................................................... Date...............................................		
Chairperson
Richard Hanna.................................................................................. Date...............................................
Interim Chief Executive
The notes on pages 43 to 62 form part of these accounts.
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Statement of Cash Flows
for the year ended 31 March 2014
Notes

2014

2013

£

£

Cash flows from operating activities
Net expenditure after interest

(21,405,425)

(21,030,867)

Adjusted for:
Depreciation

7

218,341

129,597

Amortisation

8

20,357

12,242

Bad debt provision
Bad debts written off

-

5,481

485

18

578,006

93,932
2,846

IAS 19 pension costs*

5.1d

(Increase)/decrease in inventories

10

(2,649)

Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables

11

267,114

(271,415)

Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables

13

97,757

(470,788)

(20,226,014)

(21,528,954)

Net cash outflow from operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment

7

(311,122)

(358,386)

Purchase of intangible assets

8

(70,849)

(2,400)

(381,971)

(360,786)

Net outflow from investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Recurrent grants received

18

20,645,016

21,742,126

Capital grants received

18

462,538

194,184

21,107,554

21,936,310

499,569

46,570

Net financing
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents in the
period
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April 2013

12

699,854

653,284

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March 2014

12

1,199,423

699,854

*This balance includes in year movements in the pension provision in addition to pension costs.
The notes on pages 43 to 62 form part of these accounts.
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Statement of Changes in
Taxpayers’ Equity
Year ended 31 March 2014
Notes

Balance at 31 March 2012

General
Reserve
£

Revaluation
Reserve
£

Total
Reserves
£

(7,152,202)

(63,788)

(7,215,990)

(21,030,867)

-

(21,030,867)

Changes in taxpayers’ equity 2012-13
Deficit for year from statement of comprehensive net
expenditure
Net gain on revaluation of property, plant and equipment

7

-

19,479

19,479

Net gain on revaluation of intangible assets

8

-

2,369

2,369

(1,345,996)

-

(1,345,996)

Actuarial gain in respect of pension liability
Recurrent funding

18

21,742,126

-

21,742,126

Capital funding

18

194,184

-

194,184

(7,592,755)

(41,939)

(7,634,694)

(21,405,425)

-

(21,405,425)

Balance at 31 March 2013

Changes in taxpayers’ equity 2013/14
Deficit for year from statement of comprehensive net
expenditure
Net loss on revaluation of property, plant and equipment

7

-

(42,516)

(42,516)

Net loss on revaluation of intangible assets

8

-

(3,539)

(3,539)

3,613,994

-

3,613,994

Actuarial loss in respect of pension liability
Recurrent funding

18

20,645,016

-

20,645,016

Capital funding

18

462,538

-

462,538

(4,276,632)

(87,994)

(4,364,626)

Balance at 31 March 2014
The notes on pages 43 to 62 form part of these accounts.
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Notes to the Financial
Statements
Year ended 31 March 2014
1

STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the 2013/14 Government Financial Reporting
Manual (FReM) issued by Treasury as directed by the Department of Finance and Personnel (DFP). The accounting
policies contained in the FReM apply International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adapted or interpreted
for the public sector context. Where the FReM permits a choice of accounting policy, the accounting policy that is
judged to be most appropriate to the particular circumstances of the Council for the Curriculum, Examinations
and Assessment (CCEA) for the purpose of giving a true and fair view has been selected. The particular accounting
policies that have been adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are detailed below. They have
been applied consistently in dealing with items that are considered material to the accounts.
In accordance with the FReM, the Council is not able to accrue Grant-in-aid funding due from the Department
of Education to match current liabilities recorded within the statement of financial position. Under International
Accounting Standard (IAS) 1 (revised), Presentation of Financial Statements, such a closing financial position
which shows a surplus of liabilities over assets requires the Accounting Officer to make an assessment of the
viability of the Council as a going concern. However, no material uncertainties affecting the Council’s ability to
continue as a going concern have been assessed and these accounts have therefore been prepared under the
going concern principle.

1.1

Accounting Convention
These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention, modified by the revaluation of fixed
assets, and where material, inventory to fair value as determined by the relevant accounting standard. Without
limiting the information given, the financial statements comply with the accounting and disclosure requirements
of the Companies Act 2006, accounting standards issued or adopted by the International Accounting Standards
Board and the accounting and disclosure requirements issued by DFP in so far as those requirements are
appropriate. These accounts have been prepared in pounds sterling.

1.2

Recognition of Income and Funding

1.2.1 Government Grants
The main source of funding for CCEA is allocations (grants in aid) from the Department of Education (DE). All
grants in aid, whether for revenue or capital purposes, are treated as contributions from controlling parties, giving
rise to a financial interest in the residual interest of CCEA, and are credited to the general reserve. The grant in
aid is recognised in the financial year in which the cash is received.
1.2.2 Revenue Grants
Grants for revenue purposes that are received to finance the purchase of specific goods or services are shown as
income in the statement of comprehensive net expenditure. In these cases income is set to match with the related
expenditure incurred during the period. CCEA did not receive any revenue grants in the financial year.
1.2.3 Examination Fee Income
Examination fee income is recorded in the statement of comprehensive net expenditure in the financial year in
which the examination takes place.
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1.3

Property, Plant and Equipment
Items of property, plant and equipment which are held for use on a continuing basis in delivering the reporting
entity’s activities, and which yield a benefit for a period of more than one year, are capitalised at their cost of
acquisition and installation. The level for capitalisation as an individual item of property, plant and equipment has
been applied for the current year at £3,000.
CCEA does not own any land or buildings.

1.4

Intangible Assets
Intangible assets are non-financial fixed assets that do not have physical substance but are identifiable and
are controlled by CCEA through custody or legal rights. Intangible fixed assets are capitalised and stated in the
statement of financial position at fair value (amortised cost less any accumulated impairment losses). The level
for capitalisation as an individual intangible asset has been applied for the current year at £3,000.

1.5

Depreciation
Depreciation is provided on all property, plant and equipment from the month they are brought into service. In
order to write off the value, less estimated residual value of each asset, items of property, plant and equipment
are depreciated on a straight line basis over their expected useful lives or lease period if shorter.
Lives of assets, which are reviewed regularly, are as follows:
Computer hardware - 3 years
Computer software - 3 years
Office furniture and equipment - 7/10 years
Plant and machinery - 15 years

1.6

Amortisation
Amortisation is provided on software licences from the month they are brought into service. In order to write off
the value, less estimated residual value of each asset, software licences are amortised on a straight line basis
over their expected useful lives. In line with the computer software to which they relate, software licences are
deemed to have useful lives of 3 years.

1.7

Finance and Operating Leases
Leases are classified as either a finance lease or an operating lease depending on the substance of the
agreement. A finance lease is a lease that transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership
of an asset. Finance leases are treated as if the asset had been purchased outright. The related assets are
included in non-current assets, and the capital element of the leasing commitments is shown as obligations
under finance leases. The lease rentals are treated as consisting of capital and interest elements. The capital
element is applied to reduce the outstanding obligations, and the interest element is charged against income in
proportion to the reducing capital element outstanding. Assets held under finance lease are depreciated over the
useful lives of equivalent owned assets. CCEA does not have any lease agreements that are classified as a finance
lease.
An operating lease is a lease other than a finance lease. Rental payments in respect of assets held under
operating leases are charged to the statement of comprehensive net expenditure as incurred. Commitments
under operating leases are shown in Note 15 to the financial statements.

1.8

Inventories
Inventories are stated at fair value, which is the lower of cost and net realisable value. Where necessary, provision
is made for obsolete, slow moving and defective stocks.

1.9

Work in Progress
Work in progress represents the estimated cost of work commenced, but not invoiced, in respect of projects being
undertaken by the Multimedia Unit.

1.10

Employee Benefits
The cost of providing employee benefits is recorded in the statement of comprehensive net expenditure in the
period in which the benefit is earned by the employee, rather than when it is paid or payable. This is applicable to
both short term and long term benefits.
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1.11

Pensions
CCEA has considered the impact of IAS 19R to be immaterial to the Annual Report and Accounts and have not
adjusted the pension disclosure in Note 5.
CCEA participates in the following three pension schemes:

1.11.1 The Teachers’ Superannuation Scheme (TSS)
The Teachers’ Superannuation Scheme is an unfunded contributory scheme administered by the Department of
Education (DE). The conditions of the Superannuation (NI) Order 1972, the Teachers’ Superannuation Regulations
(NI) 1977 and subsequent amendments apply to the scheme. The scheme is presently notionally funded.
The rate of the employer’s contribution is determined every 4 years by the Government actuary and advised by
DFP. The TSS is a multi-employer scheme, and CCEA is unable to identify its share of the underlying assets
and liabilities of the scheme on a consistent and reasonable basis. The TSS is therefore treated as a defined
contribution scheme and the contributions recognised as they are paid each year. The scheme is administered by
the Department of Education, Rathgael house, Balloo Road, Bangor.
1.11.2 The Northern Ireland Local Government Officers’ Superannuation Committee Scheme (NILGOSC)
The Northern Ireland Local Government Officers’ Superannuation Committee Scheme is of the defined benefits
type, the assets of the scheme being held in separate trustee administered funds. CCEA’s contribution to NILGOSC
scheme is determined by the fund’s actuary based on a triennial valuation. The scheme is administered by
NILGOSC, Holywood Road, Belfast.
The pension costs are assessed in accordance with the advice of independent qualified actuaries using the
projected unit method and are accounted for on the basis of charging the cost of providing pensions over the
period during which CCEA benefits from the employee’s services. Variations from regular cost are spread over
the expected average remaining working lives of members of the scheme after making allowances for future
withdrawals.
The difference between the fair value of the assets held in CCEA’s defined benefit pension scheme and the
scheme’s liabilities measured on an actuarial basis using the projected unit method is recognised in CCEA’s
statement of financial position as a pension scheme asset or liability as appropriate.
In accordance with IAS 19 ‘Employee Benefits’, the in year movement in the defined benefit pension scheme
asset or liability arising from factors other than cash contribution by CCEA is charged to the statement of
comprehensive net expenditure or the statement of changes in taxpayers’ equity.
1.11.3 The National Employment Savings Trust (NEST)
The National Employment Savings Trust is run by NEST Corporation, which is a non-departmental public body
(NDPB) that operates at arm’s length from government and is accountable to Parliament through the Department
for Work and Pensions (DWP). It’s a trust-based scheme, run independently from the government on a not-forprofit basis in the interests of its members.
NEST Corporation has a Chair and up to 14 Trustee Members. The Trustee Members take decisions based on
established trust law principles including the duty to act in the interests of scheme members. They set the
strategic direction and objectives for NEST and determine the overall governance structure for NEST Corporation.
The Trustee Members are supported by an executive team that has day-to-day responsibility for managing the
scheme. The Trustee Members’ primary role is to decide, implement and support NEST’s strategic direction in
order to maximise value for scheme members and beneficiaries.
NEST is a defined contribution pension scheme established by law to support the introduction of automatic
enrolment, which meets the criteria for a ‘qualifying’ scheme as set out in the Pensions Act 2008.
Minimum contribution levels are set by legislation and are to increase in 2017 and 2018 as part of a phased
timetable. NEST was set up specifically to meet the need of employers to deliver pensions auto-enrolment for
their employees and can be used by employers in all sectors regardless of the size or profile of their workforce.
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1.12

Taxation
CCEA is an eligible body for the purposes of education and any provision of education by CCEA is exempt from VAT.
A small part of the activities of CCEA, mainly those associated with the Multimedia Unit, falls within the scope of
VAT. With the exception of expenditure directly related to these activities, VAT is not reclaimable by CCEA and so, in
these cases, expenditure in the accounts is inclusive of VAT.
CCEA was established by legislation as a ‘body corporate’ and is therefore fully within the Corporation Tax
provisions. CCEA is registered with HMRC for Corporation Tax purposes.

1.13

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when CCEA has a present obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable that CCEA
will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.
The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present
obligation at the statement of financial position date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding
the obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its
carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows.
When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third
party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and the
amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

1.14

Foreign Currency Transactions
Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded using the rate of exchange ruling at the date of the transaction.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rates of exchange ruling at
the end of the financial year, with all resulting exchange differences being taken to the statement of comprehensive
net expenditure in the period in which they arise.

1.15

Early Departure Costs
Although the Local Government (Compensation for Premature Retirement) Regulations (Northern Ireland) 1983 do
not apply to CCEA, these regulations have been agreed with the recognised trade union as an acceptable basis to
allow CCEA to have the discretion to make provision for premature retirement of officers who cease to hold their
employment by reason of redundancy or in the efficient discharge of their employee’s functions.
Lump sum payments (if any) during the year, and a statement of continuing liability, are disclosed in Note 5 to the
financial statements. The accounting practice is to provide for the full cost of early departure of employees in the
statement of comprehensive net expenditure based on actuarial tables.

1.16

Reserves
The General Reserve balance represents the total assets less total liabilities of CCEA to the extent that the total is
not represented by the Revaluation Reserve.
The Revaluation Reserve reflects the unrealised element of the cumulative balance of indexation and revaluation
adjustments.

2

ANALYSIS OF NET EXPENDITURE BY SEGMENT
CCEA’s financial performance is organised and managed at directorate level. The chief operating decision maker in
CCEA is the Management Board (MB) which consists of the Interim Chief Executive Officer, Director of Qualifications,
Director of Education Strategy, Director of Corporate Services and Finance Director. The posts of Director of
Corporate Services, Director of Education Strategy and Finance Director are currently vacant, so there are a number
of temporary arrangements in place. These arrangements are detailed in the Remuneration Report on page 19.
Monthly financial reports detailing directorate revenue, expenditure and capital expenditure against budget and
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prior year are provided to MB and budget holders. Information on directorate assets and liabilities is not separately
identified. The five directorates operating in the 2013/14 financial year are Chief Executive, Corporate Services,
Education Strategy, Qualifications and Financial Services.
Chief Executive
This directorate consists of the administrative support for the Chief Executive’s Office and Council and the
independent regulatory functions.
Corporate Services
In support of all CCEA’s activities, this directorate provides independent advice and management in ICT,
Multimedia, People Services, Marketing & Communications, Facilities Management and Business Assurance.
Education Strategy
CCEA researches and trials policy on behalf of the Department and provides support material for curriculum
implementation. This directorate is also currently responsible for the development and implementation of the
assessment and reporting arrangements for ages 4 to 14.
Qualifications
CCEA provides examinations for GCE subjects and GCSE subjects, Key Skills, Essential Skills, Occupational Skills
and a range of other vocational qualifications.

Financial Services
This directorate is responsible for financial and management reporting, budgeting, payroll, trade receivables/
payables and purchasing.
CCEA’s financial position at the year ended 31 March 2014 is analysed across directorates as follows:
Chief
Executive
£(000’s)

Education
Strategy
£(000’s)

Qualifications
£(000’s)

Corporate
Services
£(000’s)

Financial
Services
£(000’s)

Total
£(000’s)

Expenditure

1,531

5,645

14,972

8,013

614

30,775

Income

(448)

-

(8,860)

(62)

-

(9,370)

Net expenditure after interest

1,083

5,645

6,112

7,951

614

21,405
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3
INCOME
		
INCOME FROM ACTIVITIES
Research and development
Examination fees
Other activities
Income from activities is shown net of Value Added Tax (VAT)

4

2014
£
27,970
8,795,034
546,827

2013
£
9,200,208
501,104

9,369,831

9,701,312

STAFF NUMBERS AND RELATED COSTS

Staff Costs comprise:
Permanent
staff/FTC*

Temporary
staff

Total

Total

2014

2014

2014

2013

10,840,543

519,454

11,359,997

10,909,281

869,623

11,357

880,980

861,498

1,919,389

-

1,919,389

1,486,402

-

-

-

3,478

13,629,555

530,811

14,160,366

13,260,659

Wages and salaries
Social Security costs
Pension costs
Reorganisation and Redundancy Costs
TOTAL

* Fixed Term Contract
Average Monthly Number of Persons Employed
The average monthly number of whole-time equivalent persons employed during the year was as follows:

Permanent
staff/FTC

Temporary
staff

Total

Total

2014

2014

2014

2013

Directly
Employed

370

36

406

405

TOTAL

370

36

406

405
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5

PENSION COMMITMENTS

5.1

a) Teachers’ Superannuation Scheme
58 employees of CCEA are members of the Teachers’ Superannuation Scheme, which is a contributory scheme
administered by the Department of Education (DE). The conditions of the Superannuation (NI) Order 1972, the
Teachers’ Superannuation Regulations (NI) 1977 and subsequent amendments apply to the scheme. The scheme
is presently notionally funded. The rate of the employer’s contribution is determined from time to time by the
Government Actuary and advised by the Department of Finance and Personnel (DFP).
In April 2012, DE introduced a banding scheme for employee contribution rates, based on pensionable pay. These
rates for 2013/14 are as follows:
Band
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9

FTE Range (£)
0-14,999
15,000-25,999
26,000-31,999
32,000-39,999
40,000-44,999
45,000-74,999
75,000-99,999
100,000-111,999
more than 112,000

Contribution Rates
6.4%
7.0%
7.9%
8.8%
9.2%
10.1%
10.6%
11.2%
11.2%

In 2013/14, the employer’s contribution rate was 13.6%, (13.6% in 2012/13)
Contributions for the year:
		
Employers
Employees
Total

2014
£
346,048
244,596

2013
£
351,913
204,737

590,644

556,650

b) Northern Ireland Local Government Officers’ Superannuation Committee Scheme
CCEA participates in the Northern Ireland Local Government Officers’ Superannuation Committee Scheme (the
NILGOSC scheme) for 280 of its employees. The NILGOSC scheme is a “multi-employer”, defined benefit scheme,
which provides members of participating employers with the benefits related to pay and services at rates which
are defined under statutory regulations. To finance these benefits, assets are accumulated in the scheme and
are held separately from the assets of the employers. The scheme is funded by employers participating in the
NILGOSC scheme who pay contributions at rates determined by an independent, professionally qualified actuary
on the basis of regular valuations using the projected unit method. The results of the most recent valuation, which
was conducted at 31 March 2013, were as follows:
Main assumptions –
Rate of return on investments per annum
Rate of general increase in salaries per annum

6.1%
5.3%

Rate of pension increases per annum

3.3%

Market value of scheme’s assets
Level of funding being the actuarial value of assets expressed as a percentage
of the benefits accrued to members, deferred pensioners and members based
on past service and after allowing for future salary increase

£3.540 billion

82%
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In April 2009, NILGOSC introduced a banding scheme for employee contribution rates, based on pensionable pay.
These rates for 2013/14 are as follows:
Band

FTE Range (£)

Contribution Rates

1

0–13,700

5.5%

2

13,701–16,100

5.8%

3

16,101–20,800

5.9%

4

20,801–34,700

6.5%

5

34,701–46,500

6.8%

6

46,501–87,100

7.2%

7

more than 87,100

7.5%

In 2013/14, the employer’s contribution rate was 20%, (19% in 2012/13).

Contributions for the year:
2014

2013

£

£

Employers

1,276,328

1,145,442

Employees

414,783

394,251

1,691,111

1,539,693

Total

5.1

c) The amounts recognised in the statement of financial position are as follows:

		

2014

2013

		

£(000’s)

£(000’s)

(40,211)

(40,995)

Present value of funded liabilities
Fair value of plan assets

34,125

31,936

Net underfunding in funded plans

(6,086)

(9,059)

Present value of unfunded obligations (Note 14)
Net liability – total non-current liability

(708)

(772)

(6,794)

(9,831)

(6,794)

(9,831)

-

-

(6,794)

(9,831)

Amounts in the statement of financial position
Liabilities
Assets
Net liability
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Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation are as follows:
2014

2013

£(000’s)

£(000’s)

41,767

35,029

Current service cost

1,502

1,143

Interest cost

1,868

1,694

410

396

(3,675)

4,522

-

-

(44)

(42)

-

3

(908)

(978)

40,920

41,767

Opening defined benefit obligation

Contributions by members
Actuarial losses
Gains on curtailments
Estimated unfunded benefits paid
Past service cost
Estimated benefits paid
Closing defined benefit obligation
Changes in the fair value of plan assets are as follows:

2014

2013

£(000’s)

£(000’s)

31,936

26,639

Expected return on assets

1,471

1,556

Contributions by members

410

396

Contributions by employer

1,276

1,145

45

45

Actuarial (losses)/gains

(61)

3,176

Unfunded benefits paid

(44)

(42)

(908)

(978)

34,125

31,936

Opening fair value of employer assets

Contributions in respect of unfunded benefits

Benefits paid

As a result of the full actuarial valuation at 31 March 2013, employer contributions of 20% are to be made in
2014/15 in order to reduce the deficiency of the scheme.
The major categories of plan assets as a percentage of total plan assets are as follows:
2014

2014

2014

2013

Quoted

Unquoted

Total

Total

Equities

74%

0%

74%

76%

Bonds

12%

0%

12%

11%

Properties

0%

11%

11%

8%

Cash

3%

0%

3%

5%

Principal actuarial assumptions at the statement of financial position date (expressed as weighted averages):
2014

2013

Discount rate

4.3%

4.5%

Expected return on plan assets

6.9%

5.7%

Future salary increases

3.9%

5.2%

Future pension increases

2.4%

2.8%
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Amounts for the current and previous four periods are as follows:
2014
£(000’s)
Fair value of employer assets

2013
£(000’s)

2012
£(000’s)

2011
£(000’s)

2010
£(000’s)

34,125

31,936

26,639

25,917

22,259

(40,211)

(40,995)

(35,029)

(31,259)

(38,190)

(6,086)

(9,059)

(8,390)

(5,342)

(15,931)

(61)

3,176

(1,636)

1,188

5,504

1,331

71

(349)

2,998

82

(61)

3,176

(1,636)

1,188

5,504

Actuarial (losses)/gains on obligation

3,675

(4,522)

(1,239)

6,091

(14,771)

Actuarial (losses)/gains recognised in statement
of changes in taxpayers’ equity

3,614

(1,346)

(2,875)

7,279

(9,267)

Present value of defined benefit obligation
Deficit
Experience adjustments on plan assets
Experience adjustments on plan liabilities
Actuarial gains/(losses) on employer assets

Sensitivity Analysis:
The approximate impact of changing the key assumptions on the present value of the funded defined obligation as at
31 March 2014 and the projected service cost for the year ending 31 March 2015 is set out below. We have not included
sensitivity of unfunded benefits on materiality grounds.
Funded LGPS benefits
Discount rate assumption
Adjustment to discount rate
Present value of total obligation (£M’s)

+0.1% p.a.		

-1.0% p.a.

39.366		

41.077

% change in present value of total obligation

-2.1%		

2.2%

Projected service cost (£M’s)

1.469		

1.572

Approximate % change in project service cost

-3.4%		

3.4%

Rate of general increase in salaries
Adjustment to salary increase rate

+0.1% p.a.		

-1.0% p.a.

40.494		

39.934

% change in present value of total obligation

0.7%		

-0.7%

Projected service cost (£M’s)

1.538		

1.502

Approximate % change in project service cost

1.2%		

-1.2%

Present value of total obligation (£M’s)

Rate of increase to pensions in payment and deferred pensions assumption
Adjustment to pension increase rate

+0.1% p.a.		

-1.0% p.a.

40.793		

39.644

% change in present value of total obligation

1.4%		

-1.4%

Projected service cost (£M’s)

1.544		

1.496

Approximate % change in project service cost

1.6%		

-1.6%

Present value of total obligation (£M’s)

Post retirement mortality assumption
Adjustment to mortality age rating assumption*

-1 year		

+1 Year

Present value of total obligation (£M’s)

41.117		

39.303

% change in present value of total obligation

2.3%		

-2.3%

Projected service cost (£M’s)

1.567		

1.473

Approximate % change in project service cost

3.1%		

-3.1%

* A rating of +1 year means that members are assumed to follow the mortality pattern of the base table for an individual that is
1 year older than them

Northern Ireland Council for the Curriculum,
Examinations and Assessment
Annual Report and Accounts 2013/14

5.1d

The net cost of the NILGOSC scheme recognised in the statement of comprehensive net expenditure is as follows;

		
		
Current service cost
Interest on obligation
Expected return on assets

2014
£

2013
£

1,502,000

1,143,000

1,868,000

1,694,000

(1,471,000)

(1,556,000)

Past service gain

-

3,000

(1,276,328)

(1,145,442)

Contributions in respect of unfunded benefits

(44,665)

(44,626)

Loss

578,007

93,932

Contributions by employer

5.1e

National Employment Savings Trust
CCEA participates in the National Employment Savings Trust (NEST) for 8 of its Contracted for Services personnel.
NEST is a defined contribution pension scheme established by law to support the introduction of auto enrolment,
which meets the criteria for a ‘qualifying’ scheme as set out in the Pensions Act 2008.
In 2013/14 the employee contribution rate was 0.8% of pensionable pay, and the employer contribution rate was
1%.
Contributions for the year:

			

2014

2013

			

£

£

		

Employers

102

-

		

Employees

81

-

183

-

			

5.2

Early Departure Costs
Lump sum payments during the year relating to early departures amounted to £0 (2013 £0).
Annual costs relating to early departures in previous years that are met by CCEA currently amount to £44,665.
These annual costs will continue in line with pension payments and are index linked.

		

2014

2013

		

£

£

708,000

772,000

Provision for liabilities and charges

Full provision has been made for the best estimate of the expected total liability of CCEA in relation to
early departures during previous years.
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6

OTHER EXPENDITURES

2014

2013

£

£

Examiner and teacher costs

6,911,398

6,813,163

Premises and equipment

2,855,201

2,604,665

Supplies and services

2,607,541

2,916,055

Substitute teacher costs

1,675,728

2,806,375

Printing costs

1,297,800

1,459,060

Distribution costs

440,908

415,312

Transport and travel costs

173,508

171,819

Council fees and expenses

17,108

5,232

15,979,192

17,191,681

(872,521)
1,440,204

Disposals

At 31 March 2014

1,089,931

At 31 March 2014

350,273

At 31 March 2014

55,536

55,724

76,327

(309,458)

19,255

(1,249)

367,779

131,863

(309,715)

22,710

(4,635)

263,971

225,807

1,044,132

(145,579)

48,950

(10,951)

1,151,712

1,308,103

(145,579)

99,747

(23,584)

1,377,519

Office
Furniture &
Equipment
£
£

1,799

2,228

26,909

-

240

(443)

27,112

28,708

-

-

(632)

29,340

Plant &
Machinery

671,579

621,571

2,237,299

(1,327,558)

218,341

(28,172)

3,374,687

2,908,878

(1,327,815)

311,122

(70,688)

3,996,259

£

TOTAL

Property, plant and equipment have been re-indexed at 31 March 2014 using the indices from the Office for National Statistics, and the overall loss of £42,516
(2013: gain £19,479) after depreciation was transferred to the revaluation reserve. All tangible assets were owned by CCEA at 31 March 2014.

337,812

At 31 March 2013

NET BOOK VALUE

(872,521)

149,896

Charge for period

Depreciation eliminated on disposal

(15,529)

Indexation

At 1 April 2013

1,828,085

188,665

Additions

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION

(41,837)

423,503

£

£

2,165,897

Computer
Software

Computer
Hardware

Indexation

At 1 April 2013

COST OR VALUATION
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-

Disposals

337,813

At 31 March 2013

55,724

1,203

367,778

-

3,047

429

364,302

423,502

-

57,432

565

225,807

230,934

1,151,712

-

42,878

4,064

1,104,770

1,377,519

-

33,992

7,823

1,335,704

Office
Furniture &
Equipment
£
£

2,228

2,460

27,113

-

248

34

26,831

29,341

-

-

50

29,291

Plant &
Machinery

621,572

373,304

3,374,687

-

129,597

23,177

3,221,913

3,996,259

-

358,386

42,656

3,595,217

£

TOTAL

Property, plant and equipment have been re-indexed at 31 March 2013 using the indices from the Office for National Statistics, and the overall gain of £19,479
(2012: gain £2,903) after depreciation was transferred to the revaluation reserve. All tangible assets were owned by CCEA at 31 March 2013

138,707

1,828,084

At 31 March 2012

NET BOOK VALUE

At 31 March 2013

-

83,424

Charge for period

Depreciation eliminated on disposal

18,650

1,726,010

Indexation

At 1 April 2012

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION

2,165,897

266,962

Additions

At 31 March 2013

34,218

365,505

£

£

1,864,717

Computer
Software

Computer
Hardware

Indexation

At 1 April 2012

COST OR VALUATION
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8

INTANGIBLE ASSETS 2013/14

Software Licences
£

COST OR VALUATION
At 1 April 2013
Indexation

367,289
(6,341)

Additions

70,849

Disposals

(49,630)

At 31 March 2014

382,167

ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION
At 1 April 2013
Indexation
Charge for year

353,774
(2,802)
20,357

Depreciation eliminated on disposal

(49,887)

At 31 March 2014

321,442

NET BOOK VALUE
At 31 March 2013

13,515

At 31 March 2014

60,725

Intangible fixed assets have been reindexed at 31 March 2014 using the indices from the Office for National
Statistics and the overall loss of £3,539 (2012: gain of £2,369) after depreciation was transferred to the
revaluation reserve.
All intangible assets were owned by CCEA at 31 March 2014.
INTANGIBLE ASSETS 2012/13

Software Licences
£

COST OR VALUATION
At 1 April 2012

360,517

Indexation

4,372

Additions

2,400

Disposals

-

At 31 March 2013

367,289

ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION
At 1 April 2012
Indexation
Charge for year
Depreciation eliminated on disposal
At 31 March 2013

339,529
2,003
12,242
353,774

NET BOOK VALUE
At 31 March 2012

20,988

At 31 March 2013

13,515
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9

OTHER FINANCE COSTS

£

£
138,000

397,000

138,000

2014

2013

£

£

5,297

2,648

5,297

2,648

2014

2013

£

£

853,075
78,139
1,664,992

227,670
(8,857)
3,416
2,641,578

2,596,206

2,863,807

£

£

Local Government
Central Government

804,818
43,368

62,005
23,943

Intra Government Balances
Bodies External to Government

848,186
4,889

85,948
141,722

853,075

227,670

2014

2013

£

£

699,854
499,569

653,284
46,570

1,199,423

699,854

2014

2014

£

£

1,199,423

699,854

INVENTORIES
Teaching Aids

11

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
Trade receivables (see note below)
Provision for bad debts
Other receivables
Prepayments and accrued income

12

12

2013

397,000

Expected loss on NILGOSC pension scheme assets

10

2014

ANALYSIS OF TRADE RECEIVABLES

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Balance at 1 April 2013
Net change in cash and cash equivalent balances
Balance at 31 March 2104

The Following balances at 31 March were held at
commercial banks and cash in hand
Cash and cash equivalents as in the statement
of financial position
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13

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2014

2013

£

£

726

1,950

Amount falling due within one year:
Trade payables (see analysis below)
Taxes and social security
Other payables
VAT

10

308,339

742

56,165

25,716

7,361

7,098

Accruals and deferred income

1,731,186

1,970,512

TOTAL

2,103,777

2,006,018

Central Government Bodies

-

-

Local Government Bodies

-

-

Bodies External to Government

726

1,950

TOTAL

726

1,950

ANALYSIS OF TRADE PAYABLES

Intra Government Balances

14

PROVISIONS FOR LIABILITIES AND CHARGES
Unfunded pension
liability provision
£
Balance at 1 April 2013

772,000

Provided in the year

(64,000)

Provisions not required written back

-

Provisions utilised in the year

-

Balance at 31 March 2014

708,000

Analysis of expected timing of discounted flows:
Later than 1 year and not after 5 years

-

Later than 5 years and not after 10 years

111,789

Later than 10 years

596,211

Total

708,000

Unfunded pension liability provision
Full provision has been made for the total liability of CCEA in relation to early departures during the current
year and previous years as calculated by the actuaries of the plan, AON Hewitt Limited. Annual costs relating to
early departures are offset against fluctuations in the pension liability.
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15

LEASE COMMITMENTS
OPERATING LEASES
Total future minimum lease payments under operating leases are given below for each of the
following periods:
Obligations under operating leases for the following periods comprise

2014

2013
(restated)

£

£

841,680

841,680

Later than one year and not later than five years

2,740,800

2,740,800

Later than five years

1,541,700

2,226,900

5,124,180

5,809,380

Not later than one year

56,936

85,557

Later than one year and not later than five years

42,702

99,638

Buildings
Not later than one year

Other

Later than five years

-

-

99,638

185,195

Other leases for the year ended 31 March 2013 were restated to include 3 photocopy leases that were omitted
from last year’s disclosure in error.
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DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION GRANT-IN-AID

2014

2013

£

£

20,645,016

21,742,126

462,538

194,184

21,107,554

21,936,310

2014

2014

£

£

At 1 April 2013

(41,939)

(63,788)

Indexation

(46,055)

21,849

At March 2014

(87,994)

(41,939)

Recurrent grant-in-aid
Capital grant-in-aid

17

REVALUATION RESERVE
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GENERAL RESERVE
At 1 April 2013
Operating cost for the year
Actuarial gain/[loss]
Recurrent grant-in-aid [Note 16]
Capital grant-in-aid [Note 16]
At 31 March 2014
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2014

2013

£

£

(7,592,755)

(7,152,202)

(21,405,425)

(21,030,867)

3,613,994

(1,345,996)

20,645,016

21,742,126

462,538

194,184

(4,276,632)

(7,592,755)

OTHER FINANCIAL COMMITMENTS
CCEA has not entered into any non-cancellable contracts [which are not leases or PFI contracts] for items of
property, plant and equipment.
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RELATED PARTIES
CCEA is a non-departmental public body (NDPB), established by the Education and Libraries (NI) Order 1993, 		
which receives its core funding through grant-in-aid from DE.
DE is regarded as a related party. During the year, CCEA had a significant number of material transactions with
DE and with other entities for which DE is regarded as the parent department, including:
•
•
•

The Education and Library Boards
Schools in Northern Ireland
Education and Skills Authority Implementation Team

In addition, CCEA has a had a small number of material transactions with other government departments and 		
other central government bodies. Most of these transactions have been with:
(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)
(e)
(f)
(g)
(h)

D.E.L – Department of Employment and Learning
Northern Ireland Assembly
NISRA
DRD
FE Colleges and Universities
NI Water Limited
Land & Property Services
Department of Finance and Personnel

During the year, none of the board members, members of the key management staff, or other related parties
undertook
any material transactions with CCEA, other than those disclosed in the Remuneration Report.
A register of members’ interests is available and can be inspected on application to the Chief Executive’s Office.

21

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial instruments have had during
the period in creating or changing the risks a body faces in undertaking its activities. As the cash requirements
of CCEA are met through grant-in-aid provided primarily by the Department of Education, financial instruments
play a more limited role in creating and managing risk than would apply to a non-public sector body. The majority
of financial instruments relate to contracts to buy non-financial items in line with CCEA’s expected purchase and
usage requirements and CCEA is therefore exposed to little credit, liquidity or market risk.
Liquidity Risk
CCEA has no borrowings and relies primarily on grant-in-aid from DE and therefore is not exposed to significant
liquidity risks.
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Foreign Currency Risk
As CCEA has no material deposits and all of its assets and liabilities are denominated in sterling, there is no
exposure to interest rate risk and foreign currency risk.
Interest Rate Risk
CCEA’s financial assets and liabilities carry nil or fixed rates of interest. CCEA is not therefore exposed to
significant interest rate risk.
Credit Risk
As the majority of CCEA’s income comes from contracts with other Public Sector bodies, CCEA has low exposure
to credit risk.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
The Council’s Accounts were approved on the 18th June 2014 by the Chairperson and Interim Chief Executive and
authorised for issue on the 4th July 2014.
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Permission to reproduce all copyright material has been applied for. In some cases,
efforts to contact copyright holders may have been unsuccessful and CCEA will be
happy to rectify any omissions of acknowledgement in future if notified.
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